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CANADIAN ASSOCIATION OF MEDICAL RADIATION TECHNOLOGISTS 

 

79th Annual General Business Meeting 
 

Sunday, May 16th, 2021, 12:50 to 14:20 

Ottawa, Ontario 
 

 Agenda 
 
 

1. Call to Order and Roll Call of Board of Directors 

 

2. Opening Remarks – CAMRT President 
2.1. Recognition of Distinguished Individuals 

2.2. Briefing on AGM Procedures  

 

3. Approval of Minutes of the 78th Annual General Meeting of May 31st, 2020  

 

4. Business Arising from the Minutes 
 

5. Annual Reports 

5.1. President’s & CEO’s Report 

5.2. Treasurer’s Report  

5.3. Auditor’s Report & Approval of the Audited Financial Statements 
for 2020  

5.4. Committee Reports 

5.5. External Liaison Reports 

 

6. Motions Presented to the Membership 

6.1. To ratify the election of Jennifer Brown, RTR, as Director for Alberta; Ada Bunko, 

MSc., RTT, CTRT, as Director for Saskatchewan; and Marie-Pier Chagnon, BSc., 

RTT, as Director for Quebec, to the CAMRT Board of Directors. 

 

7. Appointment of Auditors 

 
8. Other Business 

8.1. Presentation of 2021/2022 CAMRT Board of Directors 

8.2. Announcement of CAMRT Research Grant Recipients 

8.3. Installation of Officers 

8.4. Any Other Business 
 

9.  Adjournment  

 

 

1



Annual General Meeting Procedures 
 

 

The Annual General Meeting (AGM) is an opportunity for members to participate in 

discussions with the Board of Directors and other members in attendance and to 

have this exchange of information recorded and made accessible to the 
membership at large (through the minutes). The AGM meeting procedures and 

protocols will be followed to facilitate the smooth transaction of business and 

participation. 

 

Meeting Protocol 

The CAMRT procedures and meeting protocol is based on a Canadian reference, 

Bourinot’s Rules of Order (4th Rev. Ed.). Traditionally, the President makes specific 

procedural requirements known at the beginning of a meeting.  

 

The protocol established for the Annual General Meeting usually requires that each 

member who wishes to speak to a question enter it into the “chat” window 

• Enter your last name and province at the beginning of your question. 

• Once you have concluded typing, please write “end of message” to indicate 

to the moderator that the content is ready to be read aloud. 

• The total time required to read the question must not exceed 3 minutes. 

• It is recommended pre-typing your questions in a word file and then pasting 

the text into the question field to avoid time delays. 

• Questions will be answered during question periods only. Questions may not 

be answered in the order in which they have been received, and identical 

questions may be grouped together. Please only send in your questions 

during the question period that is related to your specific question.  

 

Motions 

Normally, discussion is allowed in a general meeting only on matters that are 

properly moved to the floor. When members want to make a motion of any sort, 

they must: 

1. Type their intent to make a motion into the chat window 
2. Wait for the moderator to inform the president that a motion is forthcoming. 

Once the President has verbally recognized the member bringing the motion, the 

motion may be read by the Moderator and should follow the following format: 

“Mr. (or Madam) President, I move that…” (Be sure to enter your motion 

precisely into the chat window. This will ensure that you move precisely what 
you want to accomplish.) Again, if possible, pre-type your motion in a word file 

and then paste the text into the chat window to avoid time delays.  

 

The motion must be seconded via the chat function. The Chair then reads the 

motion to the assembly and the debate begins. The mover may present comments, 

2



reasons, or whatever substantiation for the motion after the motion is read to the 

assembly by the chair. It is preferable to state a motion in the affirmative.  
  

 

Debate 

Debate will also be done using the chat window in the virtual platform by typing 

their full name, province, and comments into the question window, indicating “end 
of message” once the comments are ready to be read aloud. 

 

• All comments and questions must be relevant to the motion. 

• Avoid repetition. 

• No member may speak twice to a question on the floor. The Chair may request 

a member provide an explanation of material that was part of their speech. 

 
A member is allowed to speak again to request clarification, as long as no comment 

is made. 

 

Despite bullet three above, the mover of the motion can, at the conclusion of 

debate, be allowed a reply.  
 

Amendments 

• An amendment can alter a motion but cannot negate the intent. 

• Amendments must be relevant to the original motion. 

• Amendments must not introduce a new item of business. 
• The first amendment must have only one additional amendment appended to it 

at any given time. As each amendment is in its turn decided, room is then made 

to apply another amendment in its place. 

• The order of voting on a motion that is amended is: 

- the amendment to the first amendment; 
- the first amendment (possibly as amended); and 

- the original motion (possibly as amended). 

• Each member is allowed to speak separately to each motion, amendment, and 

amendment to the amendment. 

 

Motion to Defer 

If the membership has difficulty with a motion on the floor and wants time to think 

about it and perhaps discuss it, a decision can be deferred. A motion to defer 

postpones further debate until a specified time. 

• A motion to defer (postpone) is eligible for debate if the discussion is confined to 

the postponement action only. The original question being deferred is not to be 
discussed while the motion to defer is before the meeting. 

• If the membership agrees to postpone the question, the debate ceases until the 

time specified in the motion to postpone. The debate is then resumed where it 

left off. 
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Decisions 

• Members attending the meeting virtually will be asked to vote on motions using 

a tool called “Sildo.” Information on how to get to the poll will be sent to the 

members the morning of the AGM and will not be displayed on the screen to 

prevent non-members from voting. 

• Please note that if members are attending the meeting virtually in a group 
setting, there will be only 1 vote permitted per registration. If a member wishes 

to cast their own vote, they must register, login, and engage with the meeting 

independently or via a handheld device. 

• Except when a particular majority is required as a result of a by-law, a simple 

majority is required to approve a motion. A tie is broken by the Chair who will 

cast the deciding vote. 
• Only votes “for” and votes “against” are counted. Once a decision is reached, 

the same question cannot be considered again during the same meeting. 

• Notwithstanding the above, reconsidering a question is done through a notice of 

motion provided to the membership. It states that the question will be raised 

again at the next meeting of the membership. 
 

The Previous Question 

If a member at a meeting feels that enough discussion has taken place and it is 

time to bring the motion on the floor to a vote, this can be accomplished by stating 

in chat window, “I move that the question be now put…” 
 

Some conditions must be met here because of the consequences of making such a 

motion: 

• It may be moved and seconded only by members who have not spoken to the 

original motion. 

• It can be applied to an original motion, not to an amendment. 
• It cannot be amended, but it can be debated. 

• It ends debate on the motion. If approved, the vote on the motion occurs 

immediately. If the previous question is defeated, the original question is set 

aside and cannot be considered any longer. It can, however, be raised again at 

the next Annual General Meeting of the Association. 
 

Non-Debatable Motions 

Bourinot’s rules permit debate on almost every motion that reaches the floor 

through proper procedure. Some exceptions are: 

• motion to adjourn debate on a particular question; 
• motion to adjourn the meeting; and 

• motion to challenge the ruling of the Chair. 

 

These are all non-amendable and not debatable. 
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Suspension of Rules 

This is permitted in very extreme circumstances, but usually by unanimous consent 
of the members voting. 

 

Notwithstanding that fact, rules may be changed through a notice of motion if two-

thirds of the voting membership agrees.   

 
Therefore, we typically do not alter the procedural rules while a meeting is in 

progress. 

 

The CAMRT Constitution governs what occurs during our general membership 

meetings. The Rules of Order are not those of the President, the Board of Directors, 

the Parliamentarian, or any other individual or sub-group. Bourinot’s Rules of Order 
arise out of that constitution and are designed to assist and protect your individual 

rights during our general membership meetings. Each member has a right to freely 

express any relevant opinion to the Association. These rules must not appear to be 

a threat to anyone. They are there to be used to promote members’ ideas and are 

not solely for the Chair’s benefit.   
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CANADIAN ASSOCIATION OF MEDICAL RADIATION TECHNOLOGISTS 

78th Annual General Business Meeting Videoconference 

Sunday, May 31st, 2020, 12:00 to 13:30 

 MINUTES 

1. Call to Order

President Gailyne MacPherson called the meeting of the 78th Annual General 

Meeting to order.  

2. Opening Remarks & Roll Call of Board of Directors

Before beginning the meeting, President MacPherson read the following statement: 

“As members of this community, and guests on this traditional land we wish to 

acknowledge our responsibility to learn, work and engage safely and respectfully 

with all peoples on the traditional unceded territory of the Algonquin Anishnaabeg 

people where the CAMRT offices are situated. 

This online meeting place also reaches across Turtle Island – the sacred land which 

for thousands of years has been, and continues to be home to many Indigenous 

people, with whom we are honoured to work in relationship.”  

President MacPherson welcomed all members.  She stated that due to the COVID-

19 pandemic, CAMRT was conducting its AGM entirely virtually by live stream.  She 

then introduced and welcomed Irving Gold, the new Chief Executive Officer, Myrtle 

Shields, Executive Coordinator and Recording Secretary, and Atul Kapur, Certified 

Professional Parliamentarian and Professional Registered Parliamentarian.  The chief 

scrutineer for the meeting was staff member Erica Stewart, assisted by staff 

member Emily Nelms. 

The Board of Directors were introduced next as follows:  

Meena Amlani – British Columbia Director 

Susan Fawcett – Alberta Director 

Ada Bunko – Saskatchewan Director 

Sandra Luke – Manitoba Director/Vice President 

Liz Lorusso – Ontario Director  

Marie-Pier Chagnon – Quebec Director 

Jennifer Carey – New Brunswick Director/Treasurer 
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Jonathan Bower – Nova Scotia Director 

Tanya Dickey – Prince Edward Island Director 

Dorothy Bennett – Newfoundland & Labrador Director 

The Chief Scrutineer confirmed a quorum of 75. 

2.1 Recognition of Distinguished Individuals 

Acknowledgment was given to the following past presidents who were present 

online: Karren Fader, Shirley Bague, Dr. Fiona Mitchell, Dr. Amanda Bolderston, 

and Dr. Robin Hesler.  The names of all Fellows and Life/Honorary Life Members 

were displayed on the screen. 

The valuable contributions of CAMRT volunteers who worked on various committees 

and workgroups were also recognized.  

The names of the representatives of the Canadian National Network of Medical 

Radiation & Imaging Technologists were also displayed on screen. 

2.2 Briefing on AGM Procedures 

President MacPherson briefed members on rules and procedures for the 

videoconference meeting. 

3. Approval of Minutes of the 77th Annual General Meeting of April 27th,

2019. 

There were no errors or omissions to the minutes of April 27th, 2019. 

MOTION:  Luke/Carey 

To approve the minutes of the April 27th, 2019, Annual General Meeting. 

CARRIED 

4. Business Arising from the minutes

There was no business arising from the 2019 AGM minutes. 

5. Annual Reports
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5.1 President’s and CEO’s Report 

President MacPherson thanked everyone for their hard work in preparing the 

reports in the workbook.  She then invited Chief Executive Officer, Irving Gold, to 

provide a brief report on the past year and give a glimpse of what members could 

expect for this year. 

I. Gold stated that this was his six-month anniversary at CAMRT and thanked the 

staff for welcoming him and being patient as he went through his learning curve.  

He gave a special thank you to Conference Manager, Ashley Craven, for setting up 

the virtual meeting process.  He especially thanked Director of Advocacy & 

Communications, C. Topham, who was Acting CEO for the six-month period prior to 

his arrival.  He then gave a PowerPoint presentation cataloging the achievements of 

the association over the past year.  At the end of his presentation, he invited 

Director of Membership and Events, K. Morrison, to give highlights of the activities 

of the CAMRT-BC.  

President MacPherson invited questions on the report of the President and CEO.  R. 

Hesler enquired whether the membership would be advised as to what the specific 

Government Relations Program was, what refinements were being made, and what 

the critical policy submissions mentioned in the report were, as well as what 

ministries were being lobbied for which issues.  I. Gold responded in the 

affirmative, stating that this was an important piece.  He advised that there would 

be a special focus on government relations and advocacy in one of the upcoming 

CAMRT Newsletters and that this would be a regular information piece for the 

members.    

A. Lageri from BC enquired as to why the CAMRT had not developed an RA and RP 

program, as had been developed by the British society in radiography and the ASRT 

for radiological technologists to excel in their career.  Director of Professional 

Practice, M. Given replied that the CAMRT had not developed a Radiology Assistant 

and Radiology Practitioner program, as the Canadian context was different than the 

British and American programs.  Canada had developed advanced practice roles in 

radiation therapy and had a full certification process.  The possibility of a similar 

program had not, however, been abandoned for imaging as yet.  CAMRT had 

developed a committee to investigate what advanced practice in medical imaging 

would look like and they were currently working with three different pilot sites to 

potentially set roles that would be considered to be advanced practice in the 

Canadian context.  He directed A. Lageri to view the advanced practice framework 

for radiological technology which was on the CAMRT website and invited her to 

contact him by email if she wished to communicate further. 

M. Brydon from Nova Scotia commented that having the shareables had been 

excellent for those in social media. 
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A. Bolderston from Alberta asked whether the $5,000.00 research grant would be 

increased, as the original intent had been to increase the grant to $15,000.00 after 

three years.   I. Gold responded that he would be discussing this with his 

colleagues.  He stated that another area of support for research, beyond the 

financial, was providing support in terms of the research itself, such as assisting in 

grant applications. 

M. Smoke expressed congratulations for a record setting year for the journal.  She 

noted that on page 32 it stated that “total usage across all platforms grew by 79% 

over 2018.”  She asked what did this total usage across all platforms mean and 

how was total usage measured?  She commented that while this was partially 

answered by the CEO, it would be appreciated to know what data was used to 

calculate 79%.  She stated that this did not need to be answered now but should be 

considered for next year’s report.  

R. Hesler enquired into the nature of the collaboration between CAMRT and the 

OAMRS on the work in Nunavut.  I. Gold responded that they were working closely 

on a few things with the OAMRS and that he was in contact with OAMRS 

President/CEO Greg Toffner quite frequently.  M. Given expanded that the CAMRT 

was not working directly with OAMRS on this particular file, but the OAMRS was 

keeping the CAMRT apprised of what they were doing and the CAMRT was keeping 

the OAMRS apprised of the CAMRT activities.  The work the OAMRS was doing in 

Nunavut was basic training for radiological technicians.  The CAMRT was looking to 

support other areas beyond Nunavut by looking at their resources and potential 

health human resources impact on their communities.  The focus had mainly been 

on tuberculosis.  The CAMRT was working with partners nationally and federally, in 

order to make sure that the CAMRT could provide as much information and 

background as possible for them to make good choices regarding radiological 

services. 

M. Smoke enquired about examination results on page 38 of the report.  She said it 

appeared that the international pass rate was low – 22% to 30%.  She enquired 

whether this was consistent with past years and whether the CAMRT was looking 

into any kind of help to increase the pass rate.  She pointed out that the rewrites 

also had a low pass rate and whether this was consistent with past years.  I. Gold 

replied that the international pass rates were consistent over the years, so the 

numbers presented were consistent.  The CAMRT had developed a series of 

resources for international students.  Director of Education, C. Blu, confirmed that 

past international pass rates were consistent and were quite low.  The supports 

offered to international students were also offered to Canadian graduates as well.  

She mentioned that the practice exams were one of those resources that helped 

individuals to prepare for the examination.  They were currently under review for 

content and also to ensure they reflected current practice.  They would also be 

delivered on the exam platform to give the students an opportunity to experience 

what to expect.  There were also plans to update the examination preparation 
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courses in the future.  She confirmed that the rewrite numbers were also 

consistent.  

I. Gold stated that it was important to thank all MRTs across the country on the 

incredible work being done during the pandemic and that it should be recognized 

that they were on the front lines.  He thanked them for their contribution. 

5.2 Treasurer’s Report 

M. Smoke directed to page 59 of the financial statements of the 2020 budget.  She 

enquired whether the budget had been prepared with a negative net for 2020, as 

expenses appeared to be more than revenue.  Director of Finance & Administration, 

F. Sami, affirmed this and explained that the 2020 budget was a deficit budget and 

that the expenses that were planned were more than the revenue anticipated.  

Reasons for this involved utilizing the substantial surplus realized in 2019 due to 

the investment market and salary savings from staff turnover. 

5.3 Auditor’s Report and Approval of the Audited Financial Statements for 2019 

There were no questions on the Auditor’s Report and Audited Financial Statements. 

MOTION:  Luke/Carey 

To approve the Auditor’s Report and the Audited Financial Statements for 2019. 

CARRIED 

5.4 Committee Reports 

R. Hesler enquired what was being done to provide RTTs with CPD and 

certification/qualifications related to MRI?  C. Bru responded that a taskforce for MR 

in radiation therapy was struck in 2019 to make recommendations regarding 

education in clinical competency requirements for safe and effective use of MR in 

the radiation therapy environment predominantly but not exclusively, in response 

to the introduction of the MR-Linac.  The group had met in winter 2019 and 

engaged in preliminary consensus building activity to identify the knowledge, skills 

and judgment required for using MR in radiation therapy planning and treatment.  

It was recognized that additional validation of the knowledge and skills was needed.  

The taskforce elected to support an international Delphi study, initiated and led by 

two CAMRT members.  The taskforce was supposed to meet in April to discuss the 

findings of the Delphi study and begin work on final recommendations, but due to 

COVID-19 this meeting had to be postponed to the fall.   
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S. Bague from Alberta, enquired as to whether the Advocacy Advisory Council was 

aware of the Facebook page created by Ron Wallace of Ontario, trying to promote 

the MRT image and notify the public that MRTs were front line workers.  I. Gold 

replied that they were definitely aware and that Director of Advocacy & 

Communications, C. Topham, had been in touch with Ron Wallace.  He advised that 

there was an Advocacy Advisory Council teleconference scheduled for June and this 

would be a significant item for discussion.   

A question was asked that as more and more fusion scanners were being 

introduced, whether the Education Advisory Council was looking to develop cross-

over courses in relation to this continuing evolution of MRI and technology.  C. Bru 

advised that the CAMRT was not at that stage yet.  However, they saw this as 

something that was becoming more and more important.   

R. Hesler enquired into what was the CAMRT's position on the lead apron and lead 

protection controversy and how would CAMRT go forward on this issue.  M. Given 

responded that the CAMRT was fully aware of the controversy around lead shielding 

and they had looked at developing a position statement.  It was important to 

coordinate their responses closely with provincial regulatory bodies, as well as 

making sure they were aware of all the legislation related to shielding.  They hoped 

to have a position statement in draft form very shortly.  Policies and procedures 

within facilities would have to be changed to match the CAMRT position potentially.  

There would also be potential liability issues if the CAMRT policies and policies of 

the facilities were different. The CAMRT would need to do a significant education 

piece on this, which would have to be communicated through its Communications 

Department. 

In the interests of time, President MacPherson stated that any questions not 

addressed would be answered directly or placed on the members only section of the 

website.  

5.5 External Liaison Reports 

R. Hesler enquired into what tremendous support was CAMRT now providing the 

ISRRT, including funding, and what was the funding model.  M. Given advised that 

the CAMRT performed a lot of reviews for the ISRRT and the CAMRT contributed 

through its membership, as they had three members who sat on the ISRRT Board 

of Management and committees.  C. Topham added that prior to last year the 

CAMRT was funding the ISRRT through an associate membership model.  Now all 

the associations were funding the ISRRT based on tiers that reflect the total 

number of members in their association.  

6. Ratification of board elections
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MOTION:  Luke/Carey 

To ratify the election of Kristy Owen, RTNM, as Director for British Columbia; Jenna 

MacLaine, RTR, as Director for Manitoba; Jennifer Carey, RTR, as Director for New 

Brunswick, and Megan Brydon, RTNM, as Director for Nova Scotia, to the CAMRT 

Board for Directors 

CARRIED 

7. Appointment of Auditors

MOTION: Luke/Carey 

To appoint the firm Marcil Lavallée as the auditors for 2020. 

CARRIED 

8. Other Business

8.1 Presentation of 2020/2021 CAMRT Board of Directors 

o President – Jennifer Carey, RTR, CTIC

o Immediate Past President – Gailyne MacPherson, MA, CHE, RTR, ACR

o From British Columbia – Kristy Owen, RTNM

o From Alberta – Susan Fawcett, MRT(T), B.Sc, MA

o From Saskatchewan – Ada Bunko, RTT

o From Manitoba – Jenna MacLaine, RTR

o From Ontario – Liz Lorusso, RTR, RTMR, BSc

o From Quebec – Marie-Pier Chagnon, RTT

o From New Brunswick – Crystal Bevan, BHSc, RTNM, CTIC (NM), Director-

At-Large

o From Nova Scotia – Megan Brydon, RTNM
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o From PEI – Tanya Dickey, RTR, RTMR

o From Newfoundland & Labrador – Dorothy Bennett, RTR

G. MacPherson thanked Meena Amlani, current Director for British Columbia, 

Sandra Luke, current Director for Manitoba, and Jonathan Bower, current Director 

for Nova Scotia, who would be leaving the board at the end of June, for their 

valuable contributions during their term of office. 

G. MacPherson stated that normally at the events associated with the AGM, they 

would also be presenting awards to many outstanding and accomplished MRTs at 

the annual CAMRT Celebration of Excellence awards evening.  However, in these 

physically distant times, they would be presenting the award recipients virtually in 

the coming weeks, in a deliberate and celebratory campaign that they believed 

would do justice to the extraordinary contributions of these individuals.   She asked 

members to stay tuned for announcements. 

8.2 Announcement of CAMRT Research Grant Recipients 

In 2010, the board established a CAMRT Research Grant to fund one grant in the 

amount of $5,000.  A competition was held again this year.  However, due to the 

current COVID-19 pandemic, the CAMRT Research Grant process was delayed, and 

as such, an announcement of the recipient(s) was postponed until July.  G. 

MacPherson asked members to watch for the announcement in a future issue of the 

CAMRT Newsletter and the E-News. 

8.3 Installation of Officers 

The installation of officers for 2020/2021 was pre-recorded and was conducted by 

Immediate Past President K. Fader.  Jennifer Carey was installed as President, 

Marie-Pier Chagnon was installed as Vice-President, and Liz Lorusso was installed as 

Treasurer.  The video of the installation has been shared on social media. 

8.4 Any other business 

There was no other business.  Questions that were not addressed would be 

answered off-line. 

9. Closure
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G. MacPherson thanked members for their participation.  She also thanked the 

Parliamentarian, Atul Kapur, for his assistance at this AGM. 

G. MacPherson declared the 78th Annual General Meeting of the Canadian 

Association of Medical Radiation Technologists closed.  

The meeting ended at 1:30 p.m. 

_______________________________ _________________________ 

President Date 

Vice-President Date 
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By-laws relating generally to the conduct 

of the affairs of 

Canadian Association of Medical Radiation Technologists 

Association canadienne des technologues en radiation médicale 

(the "Association") 

BE IT ENACTED as a by-law of the Association as follows: 

1. Definitions
In this by-law and all other by-laws of the Association, unless the context
otherwise requires:

i. "Act" means the Canada Not-For-Profit Corporations Act S.C. 2009, c. 23

including the Regulations made pursuant to the Act, and any statute or

regulations that may be substituted, as amended from time to time;

ii. "articles" means CAMRT’s Articles of Continuance filed with Corporations

Canada pursuant to the Act, and as may be amended from time to time;

iii. “Association” means the Canadian Association of Medical Radiation

Technologists / Association canadienne des technologues en radiation

médicale;

iv. "board" means the board of directors of the Association.

v. "by-law" means this by-law and any other by-law of the Association as

amended and which are, from time to time, in force and effect;

vi. “certified” means having earned, through examination, a CAMRT-
recognized designation as a medical radiation technologist in one of the

disciplines of medical radiation technology.

vii. "director" means a member of the board;

viii. “discipline” means Radiological Technology, Radiation Therapy, Nuclear

Medicine or Magnetic Resonance.

ix. “medical radiation technologist (MRT)” is used without
preference or discrimination to describe a person specializing in the

application of ionizing or other forms of energy in the disciplines of

the Association.

x. "meeting of members" includes an annual meeting of members or a
special meeting of members; "special meeting of members" includes a

meeting of any category or categories of members and a special meeting

of all members entitled to vote at an annual meeting of members;
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xi. "ordinary resolution" means a resolution passed by a majority of not

less than 50% plus 1 of the votes cast on that resolution;

xii. "proposal" means a proposal submitted by a member of the Association

that meets the requirements of section 163  of the Act;

xiii. “provincial organization” means any provincial organization that is a

signatory to the National Provincial Agreement with the CAMRT.

xiv. "Regulations" means the regulations made under the Act, as amended,

restated or in effect from time to time;

xv. “Regulatory authority” means an organization that is legislatively

authorized to regulate practice of the profession of medical radiation

technology in the public interest;

xvi. "special resolution" means a resolution passed by a majority of not less

than two-thirds (2/3) of the votes cast on that resolution.

2. Membership
The Association shall be composed of members who are registered under a

category of membership of the Association.

2.1. Categories of Membership 

There shall be the following categories of Membership: 

i. Full Practice

ii. Limited Practice

iii. Temporary Practice

iv. Non-Practicing

v. Senior
vi. Student

vii. Life

viii. Honorary Life

Eligibility to register as a member, vote at meetings of members and serve 

on the CAMRT board shall vary depending on the category of membership, 

as further defined below. 

Access to registration for CAMRT membership shall be either direct or 

through a provincial organization, as determined bi-laterally between the 

CAMRT and the provincial organizations. 

2.1.1.  Full Practice Membership  
Full Practice Membership is available to MRTs who have been certified by the 

Association through examination, or who are licensed or certified by a 

provincial regulatory authority and recognized as such by the Association. 

VOTE BOARD ACCESS 

Yes Yes Through provincial organization or direct where applicable.  
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2.1.2.  Limited Practice Membership 

Limited practice membership is available to individuals who have completed 
an education program for limited medical radiation technology practice 

recognized by a provincial regulatory authority or the CAMRT Board of 

Directors in the absence of a provincial regulatory authority. These 

individuals must practice within an approved scope of practice and are 

ineligible to be certified by CAMRT. 

Limited Practice members are eligible to vote at meetings of members but 

are not eligible to hold office. 

VOTE BOARD ACCESS 

Yes No Through provincial organization. 

2.1.3.  Temporary Practice Membership 

Temporary practice membership is available to individuals that are eligible to 

write the CAMRT national certification exam and have been granted a permit 

to practice on a temporary or restricted basis by a regulatory authority where 

such regulatory authority exists. 

Temporary Practice members are not eligible to vote at meetings of members 

and are not eligible to hold office. 

VOTE BOARD ACCESS 

No No Through provincial organization. 

2.1.4.  Non–Practicing Membership  
Non-practicing membership is available to MRTs who qualify for full practice 

membership but have temporarily or permanently discontinued their practice 

of the profession and wish to maintain a member relationship with the 

Association.  

VOTE BOARD ACCESS 

Yes Yes Through provincial organization or direct where applicable. 

2.1.5.  Senior Membership 

Senior membership is available to any full practice qualified member who has 

been a CAMRT member for 30 or more years, or has reached the age of 55 

years, whichever occurs first, and who is no longer directly or indirectly 

involved in the practice of the profession of medical radiation technology.  

VOTE BOARD ACCESS 

Yes Yes Through provincial organization or direct where applicable. 

2.1.6.  Student Membership 

Student membership is available to individuals enrolled in a Canadian 

medical radiation technology program accredited by the Canadian Medical 

Association (CMA).  

VOTE BOARD ACCESS 

No No Through provincial organization. 

2.1.7.  Life Membership 

Life membership may be conferred upon full practice, senior or non-

practicing members by the board. Promotion to life membership is based on 

distinguished service to the Association.  
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VOTE BOARD ACCESS 

Yes Yes, if previously eligible Direct 

However, no member shall be eligible for nomination to this category of 

distinguished membership while serving on the board. 

2.1.8.  Honorary Life Membership 

Limited practice members or individuals who are not otherwise eligible for 

membership in the Association and who have rendered distinguished service 

to the profession may be honoured by the Association by election, by the 

Board of Directors, to this category of distinguished membership. 

VOTE BOARD ACCESS 

Yes No, unless previously eligible Direct 

2.2. Membership Term 

The term of membership for all member categories shall be determined by 

the board, and subject to renewal and in accordance with the policies of the 

Association. 

2.3. Membership Transferability 

The rights and privileges of each category shall not be transferable by 

personal act or operation of law. 

2.4. Termination of Membership 

Membership in the Association shall be terminated 
i. on the death of a member, or
ii. on resignation in writing, or

iii. on non-payment of dues in any given year, or

iv. on dissolution or liquidation of the Association, or

v. in accordance with section 2.4.1.

2.4.1. Suspension or expulsion of a member 

The board shall have authority to suspend or expel any member from the 

Association for any one or more of the following grounds: 

i. violating any provision of the articles, by-laws, code of ethics 

or written policies of the Association; 
ii. carrying out any conduct which may be detrimental to the 

Association as determined by the board in its sole discretion; 

iii. for any other reason that the board in its sole and absolute 

discretion considers to be reasonable, having regard to the 

purpose of the Association. 

In the event that the board determines that a member should be expelled 

or suspended from membership in the Association, the president, or such 

other officer as may be designated by the board, shall provide twenty (20) 

days’ notice of suspension or expulsion to the member and shall provide 

reasons for the proposed suspension or expulsion.  

The member may make written submissions to the president, or such other 

officer as may be designated by the board, in response to the notice 
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received within such twenty (20) day period. In the event that no written 

submissions are received by the president, the president, or such other 
officer as may be designated by the board, may proceed to notify the 

member that the member is suspended or expelled from membership in the 

Association.  

If written submissions are received in accordance with this section, the 
board will consider such submissions in arriving at a final decision and shall 

notify the member concerning such final decision within a further twenty 

(20) days from the date of receipt of the submissions. The board’s decision 

shall be final and binding on the member, without any further right of 

appeal. 

2.5. Re-admission of a Member 

Any person whose membership has been terminated may be reinstated as a 
member at the discretion of the board, which shall determine whether 

payment of arrears in full or in part is required. 

3. Registers

3.1.  Member Register 
The Chief Executive Officer of the Association shall maintain a register of 

persons admitted to membership in the Association, recording the name, 
contact information and category of membership for each person. 

3.2. Certification Register 
The Chief Executive Officer of the Association shall maintain a register of 
persons certified by the Association through Association examination, 

recording name, contact information, certification discipline(s), and 

registration number for each person. 

3.3. Register Access 

These registers shall be open for inspection by any person who satisfies the 

Chief Executive Officer that there exists a bona fide reason for requesting 

access to the registers. 

4. Annual Dues
The board shall set, yearly, the annual dues, which shall be approved by the

membership by ordinary resolution. The board shall have the authority to

adjust the membership dues, without ratification from the membership, by

an amount equivalent to the change in professional liability insurance
premiums in the coming year.

5. Meetings of Members

5.1. Annual Meeting 
The annual meeting of the Association shall be held each year at the time 

and place determined by the board. Not less than the following items of 
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business will be brought forward to the annual meeting for ratification by 

the membership: 
i. Report of the President;

ii. Reports of the Chief Executive Officer and such other officials of the

Association who are properly required to report to the membership;

iii. Report on the financial status of the Association, including the Auditors
Report;

iv. Appointment of Auditors;

v. Ratification of elected directors, as required; and

vi. Such other business as shall be required.

5.2. Special General Meetings 

Special general meetings may be called by the board at any time or by 

special motion signed by not less than five per cent (5%) of the members of 

the Association entitled to vote at meetings of the members of the 

Association. If the board does not call a meeting within twenty-one (21) 
days of receiving the requisition, any member who signed the requisition 

may call the meeting. 

5.3. Notice of Meetings 

Notice of the time and place of a meeting of members shall be given to each 

member entitled to vote at the meeting by the following means: 

i. By mail, courier or personal delivery during a period of 21 to 60 days

before the day on which the meeting is to be held; or
ii. By telephonic, electronic or other communication facility during a

period of 21 to 35 calendar days before the day on which the meeting

is to be held.

Omission of notice of meeting to any member shall not invalidate such 
meeting. 

5.4. Place of members’ meetings 

Subject to compliance with section 159 (Place of Members' Meetings) of the 

Act, meetings of the members may be held at any place within Canada 

determined by the board or, if all of the members entitled to vote at such 

meeting so agree, outside Canada. 

5.5. Presiding Officer 
The President of the board shall preside at all general meetings of the 

Association. In the absence of the President, or in the event of the 

President’s inability or refusal to act, the Vice-President shall preside. In the 

absence of both President and Vice-President, or their inability or refusal to 
act, the board shall select a pro tem presiding officer. 

5.6. Quorum 
The quorum for general meetings of members shall consist of not less than 

seventy-five (75) members with voting privileges plus a majority of the 

board.  Quorum shall not include absentee votes. 
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The quorum for a committee of the Association shall be the Chair of the 
committee or a person designated by the Chair as a designate, and a 

majority of the committee members. 

Quorum must be present at the opening of the meeting, and business may 
proceed even if quorum is not present throughout the meeting. 

If, within one-half hour (30 minutes) from the time appointed for a meeting 

a quorum is not present, no business may be conducted other than to set 

the date and time of the next meeting. 

5.7. Participation by Electronic Means 

If the Association chooses to make available a telephonic, electronic or other 

communication facility that permits all participants to communicate 
adequately with each other during a meeting of members, any person 

entitled to attend such meeting may participate in the meeting by such 

means. A person participating in a meeting by such means is deemed to be 

present at the meeting.  

Meetings of members may be held entirely by telephonic, an electronic or 

other communication facility provided such means permit all participants to 

communicate adequately with each other during the meeting. 

6. Voting
At all general meetings of members of the Association, every member

present with voting privileges shall be entitled to cast a single vote on every
question. Voting shall be by show of hands unless a poll is requested.

Decisions shall be reached by a simple majority (50% + 1) unless otherwise

required by by-law or Canadian Legislative Act.

If a poll is requested or at the discretion of the Chair of the meeting, Chair-
appointed scrutineers shall total the votes cast and report to the Chair of the

Meeting.

The Chair of the Meeting shall declare all results of voting.

In the event of an equality of votes, the Chair shall have a second or casting

vote.

On any motion, a declaration by the Chair of the meeting that a decision has

been reached and an entry into the minutes of the meeting to that effect

shall be conclusive evidence of the decision.

6.1. Absentee Voting 
Pursuant to section 171(1) (Absentee Voting) of the Act, a member not in 

attendance, who is entitled to vote at a meeting of members, may vote by 

mailed-in ballot or by means of a telephonic, electronic or other 
communication facility if the Association provides a system that: 

a. enables the votes to be gathered in such a manner, and that permits

their subsequent verification; and
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b. permits the tallied votes to be presented to the Association without it
being possible for the Association to identify how each member voted.

7. Board of Directors
The affairs of the Association shall be managed by a Board of Directors

(“board”). Eligible members of the Association shall elect the directors to the

board and such election results shall be ratified by the members at each
annual general meeting following an election.

7.1. Vacancies on the board 

The office of the director shall be vacated upon: 

i. death of the director;

ii. resignation in writing;

iii. removal from office by ordinary resolution by a majority of the

members at a meeting of members called for the purpose of removing
the director;

iv. the director being declared incapable by the court; or

v. the director becoming bankrupt.

If a vacancy is created as a result of a director being removed from office at 
a meeting of the members, the members may elect another person to act as 

director. If such a vacancy is not filled by the members at that meeting, or 

in the event of all other means of vacancy, a quorum of the directors may 

fill the vacancy after that meeting by appointing another person to be a 

director for the unexpired term of his or her predecessor. 

7.2. Officers of the Association 

The Association shall have the following officers who shall be elected by and 
serve at the pleasure of the board: 

7.2.1. President 

 The President shall: 

i. be a director and an ex officio member of all committees of the

Association;
ii. preside as Chair at all meetings of the Association and of the board;

iii. assure that all orders and resolutions of the Association are
implemented;

iv. sign all by-laws and other documents requiring the signature of

officers of the Association.

7.2.2.   Vice-President 

The Vice-President shall: 
i. be a director;

ii. perform the duties of the President in the absence of the President or
in the event of the President’s refusal or inability to act;

iii. perform such other duties as may properly be required from time to

time by the board.

7.2.3.   Treasurer 
The Treasurer shall:   
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i. be a director;
ii. be a member of and chair the Finance Committee;

iii. monitor the financial operation of the Association;

iv. serve as secretary of the board, as required;

v. perform such other duties as may properly be required from time to
time by the board.

7.2.4. Immediate Past President 

The Immediate Past President shall: 

i. not be a member of the board;
ii. provide assistance to the President;

iii. attend and participate in all meetings of the board;

iv. perform such other duties as may properly be required from time to

time by the board.

7.2.5. Chief Executive Officer 

The Chief Executive Officer shall: 
i. not be a member of the board;

ii. attend and participate in all meetings of the board, except in situations
of conflict of interest;

iii. be an ex-officio member of all committees of the Association.

7.3. Powers of Directors 

The Board of Directors shall exercise such powers as are required from time 

to time by the Act, the Regulations or by these By-laws, or as determined 

from time to time by the members at an annual general or special general 
meeting. 

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the board shall: 

i. determine the governance policies of the Association;

ii. appoint and/or elect the President, Vice-President and Treasurer of the
Association;

iii. generally supervise the affairs of the Association;

iv. make changes to the By-laws of the Association for ratification by the

membership at the next annual general meeting;

v. appoint, as required, an officer or officers authorized to sign
documents, contracts and instruments in writing on behalf of the

Association which shall be binding without further authorization;

vi. set the membership dues for all categories of membership, which shall

be approved by the membership by ordinary resolution.

vii. set the remuneration and benefits of the Chief Executive Officer

7.3.1.  Borrowing Powers  
The directors of the Association may, without authorization of the members, 

i. borrow money on the credit of the Association;

ii. issue, reissue, sell, pledge or hypothecate debt obligations of the

Association;
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iii. give a guarantee on behalf of the Association to secure performance of

an obligation of any person; and

iv. mortgage, hypothecate, pledge or otherwise create a security interest

in all or any property of the Association, owned or subsequently

acquired, to secure any debt obligation of the Association.

7.4. Meetings of the Board of Directors 

7.4.1.  Calling of meetings of the board 
The board shall meet on the request of the President or Vice-President or at 

the request in writing of three (3) directors at such time and place within 

Canada as shall be determined by the directors.  A mutually audible or 
practical communication method, such as a teleconference or other electronic 

means, may constitute a meeting.   

7.4.2.  Notice of meetings of the board 
Notice of meetings of the board shall be sent to each member of the board 

not less than ten (10) days prior to the date of meeting of the board. Failure 
to notify any director shall not invalidate the meeting nor any business 

conducted at such meeting.  The presence of a director at a meeting shall 

waive any requirement that notice be given. 

7.4.3.  Quorum of meetings of the board 
At every meeting of directors, whether face-to-face or via teleconference or 

by other electronic means, the presence of the President or Vice-President 
along with 50% or more of the directors shall constitute a quorum. 

7.4.4.  Chairing of meetings of the board 
The President shall act as Chair at all meetings of the board.  In the event of 

the absence of the President or his/her inability or refusal to act, the Vice-

President shall act as Chair. In the absence of both the President and Vice-

President or their inability or refusal to act, the board shall appoint an interim 
Chair, who must be a director of the Association, for purposes of the 

meeting. 

7.4.5. Frequency of meetings of the board 

The board shall meet a minimum of twice annually at such place within 

Canada or by such means and at such time as shall be determined by the 

board. 

7.4.6.  Regular business of meetings of the board 

During its meetings the board shall: 
i. receive reports of Officers, committees and the Auditor;

ii. conduct such elections and confirm appointments as may be required;

and

iii. consider such other business as may properly be brought forward at a
meeting of the board.

7.5. Decisions of the board 

Decisions of the board shall be reached by a simple majority of votes.  In the 

event of a tie vote, the Chair of the meeting shall have a second or casting 

vote. 
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7.6. Expenses 
Officers, directors, committee chairs, committee members and other persons 
who perform duties on behalf of the Association with the approval of the 

board shall be remunerated for reasonable expenses incurred during those 

activities in accordance with the policies of the Association in place from time 

to time. 

Remuneration beyond expenses will not normally be awarded, except where 

special work or extraordinary mission is undertaken on behalf of the 

Association. Such additional remuneration shall only be paid on approved 
motion by the board. 

7.7. Limits of Liability 
Subject to the Act, the directors and officers of the Association are 

indemnified and saved harmless out of the funds of the Association, except 

where such costs, charges, or expenses are incurred by the directors on 
willful neglect or default. 

7.8. Other Officials 
The board may, at its sole discretion, appoint such other officials as are 

required to further the objectives of the Association. 

8. Committees

8.1. Standing Committees 

The following standing committees are established: 

8.1.1.  Executive Committee  
The members of the Executive Committee shall be the officers of the 

Association.  The duties of the committee shall be set forth in terms of 

reference that shall be established from time to time by the board. Such 

duties shall include acting on behalf of the board between meetings of the 

board and as directed by the board. 

8.1.2.  Finance 

The duties and membership of the committee, of which the Treasurer shall 
be the Chair, shall be set forth in terms of reference that shall be established 

from time to time by the board. Such duties shall include establishing 

acceptable budget procedures for the Association, overseeing the 

investments of the Association and such other duties as may be required 

from time to time by the board. 

8.1.3.  Nominating Committee 
The duties and membership of the committee shall be set forth in terms of 

reference that shall be established from time to time by the board. Such 

duties shall include identifying among the membership of the Association 

suitable candidates for directors of the board and other positions that may be 
referred to it from time to time by the board. 

8.2. Other Committees 
The board may establish other committees to further the objectives of the 

Association. 
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9. Investment of Funds
All monies of the Association which are not immediately required to meet

operating expenses of the Association shall be invested in a fiscally

responsible manner that will be determined by the board of Directors.

10. Annual Financial Statements
The annual financial statements of the Association shall be made available to

members between twenty-one (21) and sixty (60) calendar days before the

annual general meeting of members.

11. Amendments and Confirmation
At general meetings, the association shall have the authority to confirm,

repeal or amend proposed changes to the By-laws upon a two-thirds (2/3)

majority vote, provided that the members of the association have received a

motion stating the intent to amend the By-laws not less than twenty-one
(21) days prior to the deadline for proxy submissions.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the board have the provisional authority to 

amend or repeal the provisions of these By-laws. Such changes effected 
shall, unless confirmed at a Special General Meeting, have force until the 

next Annual General Meeting at which time the changes must be subjected to 

approval by the members. In the event that such approval is not 

forthcoming, no act done or right acquired under the By-laws shall be 
prejudicially affected by the failure to confirm. 

12. Invalidity of any Provisions of these By-laws
The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of these by-laws shall not
affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions of these by-

laws.

13. Omissions and Errors
The accidental omission to give any notice to any member, director, officer,

member of a committee of the board or public accountant, or the non-receipt

of any notice by any such person where the Association has provided notice

in accordance with the by-laws or any error in any notice not affecting its
substance shall not invalidate any action taken at any meeting to which the

notice pertained or otherwise founded on such notice.

14. Repeal of By-laws
These by-laws came into effect on the date shown and repeal any and all

previous by-laws of the Association.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF we, the undersigned, have hereunto set our hands. 

Dated this _______ day of _______, _______. 

__________________________ ______________________________ 

President Chief Executive Officer 

__________________________ 

Witness 
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Message from the 
President and CEO
Describing 2020 is difficult to do without employing a cliché – unprecedented, 
challenging, difficult. Unfortunately, clichés are truths that are overused, but 
often accurate as descriptions. As we look back at 2020, it is impossible to 
avoid seeing everything through the lens of COVID-19. 

SUPPORTING MRTS THROUGH COVID-19

CAMRT only saw 10 weeks of business as usual before the declaration 
of a pandemic demanded we quickly adapt to the changing needs of 
our members and the new context of our work. The early days of March 
were spent cancelling in-person commitments, assessing our contingency 
options, and working out how to run all the essential aspects of the 
association during pandemic lockdowns. The race to ensure delivery of the 
May 2020 certification exam was emblematic of the adaptation that took 
place. With only 6 weeks to plan, we reconfigured our existing online exam 
to allow for virtual proctoring, while protecting its security and integrity. 
No less significant was moving our in-person conference online and fully 
virtual for 2021. We are proud of the ways we adapted over the year so that we were able to deliver almost all 
that we planned and promised.

Even as we dealt with these pressing association matters, we knew that our first priority was to find or develop 
resources for members to navigate the rapidly changing work environments and to disseminate these as quickly 
as possible. Some of what we focussed on was simple, yet important: providing the most up-to-date information 
on the virus, available mental health resources, or how our PLI was going to handle the myriad practice issues 
relating to COVID-19. More involved was the development and implementation of an advocacy campaign 
targeting the highest levels of government and other decision-makers to ensure MRTs were recognized as 
essential frontline workers in areas such as PPE allocation, reopening plans, and vaccine distribution. Over the 
year we listened acutely for the needs of members to anticipate the next areas to address. We are grateful to all 
those who reached out to us to tell us their stories and update us on the evolving situations across the country. 
We continue to monitor the working conditions of MRTs within the context of COVID-19 and are committed to 
ensuring that you are properly recognized and treated equitably among other healthcare professionals as you 
continually work to manage the ever-changing healthcare needs of Canadians. 

A positive story for the association was the interest in our online CPD. Education came to be seen by everyone 
in a new light in 2020. We are proud to have built a varied catalogue of more than 200 quality online offerings 
for MRTs. 2020 saw outstanding growth in registrations for CAMRT CPD, and we hope this trend will continue.

EVOLVING BEYOND THE PANDEMIC

2020 was also a year of evolution for us in ways that went beyond responding to COVID-19. The CAMRT Board 
unanimously approved the addition of a new strategic objective – social accountability. Social accountability 
has been defined by the World Health Organization as “the obligation … to direct education, research and 
service activities towards addressing the priority health concerns of the community, region, and/or nation they 
have a mandate to serve”. (World Health Organization, 1995).  
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The interplay between health professionals, communities, 
academic institutions, health administrators, and policy 
makers is expressed below: 

This addition to our strategic plan will allow us to 
consolidate many existing projects and educational 
offerings; and, more importantly, add to them in important 
areas such as diversity and inclusion, mental health and 
wellness, culturally safe care, and indigenous health. 
Over the course of 2021, we will be assembling a steering 
committee and look forward to providing you with updates 
as we grow this area of our work.

In addition, we took important steps to enhance the 
CAMRT’s ability to conduct, support, and use research in 
its mandate. While CAMRT has always infused elements 
of research into our programming, we have been working 
through this strategic cycle to invest more resources, 
increase research capacity within the profession, and 
enhance our own research capacity so that we can 
better understand the MRT workforce and ensure that 
our activities are informed by evidence. In an important 
step, the department previously known as Professional 
Practice is now the Department of Professional Practice 
and Research and investments have been made to help 
us meet our research goals. We are confident this will help 
us to serve CAMRT in important ways.  

ACKNOWLEDGING OUTSTANDING 
CONTRIBUTIONS THROUGHOUT 2020 

As your professional association, we rely heavily on 
the contributions of our many volunteers. Whether is it 
ensuring that our CPD offerings are in line with the most 
current evidence, that our advocacy efforts are focussed 
on your priorities, or that our BPGs are of the highest 
standards, our volunteers make it all possible. Despite the 
enormous pressure on all MRTs, and the almost overnight 
change to the way committees would work in 2020, our 
volunteers continued to give generously of their time and 
energy. It is impossible to overstate the contributions they 
have made and continue to make that allow us to deliver 
on our mandate to serve your needs.

We have also been blessed at CAMRT with an 
outstanding team of staff. Their commitment to the 
profession and to MRTs across the country is truly 
humbling. COVID-19 demonstrated this clearly. Their 
willingness to change the way they do their work, and 
their sincere desire to identify and meet our member’s 
evolving needs, was remarkable.  

Most importantly, 2020 demonstrated that all of you, 
Canada’s MRTs, are resilient, deeply committed to the 
health and wellness of the populations you serve, and 
pivotal to our healthcare system. Whether you are a 
radiation therapist providing life-saving treatments to 
cancer patients, a magnetic resonance technologist 
conducting critical MRI imaging, a nuclear medicine 
technologist working to treat and manage disease, or 
a radiological technologist providing critical imaging 
to guide the care of virtually all patients, healthcare 
could not be delivered without you. Your willingness 
to place yourselves at risk, place the needs of patients 
ahead of your own, and continue to deliver world class 
care despite the added pressures of COVID-19 must 
be recognized. It is an honour and privilege to work on 
your behalf.

There are far too many things to cover in describing 
what we did throughout 2020 in these opening 
comments. A more detailed view is contained in the 
remainder of this report. We hope that you are pleased 
with our accomplishments and the work we have done 
on your behalf.

Jennifer Carey, MRT

 Irving Gold, Chief Executive Officer
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A more detailed summary of CAMRT’s 2020 

activities and achievements is included in CAMRT’s 

2020 Annual Report.   

 

 

The CAMRT 2020 Annual Report will be 

available for download from  

www.camrt.ca/annualreport  

 

from the week of May 3, 2021. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Directors of
Canadian Association of Medical Radiation Technologists

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of the Canadian Association of Medical Radiation Technologists
(the Association), which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2020, and the
statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Association as at December 31, 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Association in accordance with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter 

The financial statements of the Association for the year ended December 31, 2019 were audited by another
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on March 2, 2020.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Association's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Association or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Association's financial reporting process.
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Association's internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Association's ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Association to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

    

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Ottawa, Ontario
March 2, 2021
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CANADIAN ASSOCIATION OF
MEDICAL RADIATION TECHNOLOGISTS

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 3

     
Budget

(Note 3) 2020 2019

REVENUE

Membership dues $ 2,238,000 $ 2,224,628 $ 2,256,144
Certification 986,000 915,340 980,345
Continuing professional development 818,545 873,607 861,065
Professional liability insurance 265,400 280,516 285,380
Transfer of funds of BCAMRT - 273,438 -
Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy - 180,346 -
Investment 50,000 78,957 99,205
Administration fees and miscellaneous 41,750 33,018 33,743
Sponsorships 25,000 31,300 54,461
Publications and advertising 21,000 13,215 19,505
Annual general conference and other events 248,341 1,220 177,773

4,694,036 4,905,585 4,767,621

EXPENSES

Member services
- Professional liability insurance 265,400 279,139 285,083
- Marketing and general 26,500 22,145 65,720
- Awards program and sponsorships 49,501 16,900 29,267

Advocacy and communications
- Publications 235,505 217,797 228,616
- MRT week 58,000 104,203 68,048
- Advocacy and promotion 63,850 21,173 45,391

Education
- Exam development and administration 216,150 230,351 208,789
- Course development and maintenance 204,489 191,165 186,112
- Certification Committees 136,881 87,005 126,300
- Future of MRT education 100,000 78,737 29,136
- Continuing professional development

Committees 23,608 12,737 22,091
- Education advisory council 29,670 2,575 18,001

External liaison 101,095 62,155 136,727
Annual general conference and other events 245,624 54,776 192,554
Governance 97,367 21,156 93,473
Professional practice 103,307 2,954 102,558
General office administration

- Salaries, benefits and other staff expenses 2,218,939 2,119,815 2,062,905
- Office expense 302,323 325,124 334,107
- Rent 219,109 215,438 210,473
- Professional fees 34,024 55,268 49,270
- Amortization of capital assets 130,629 140,917 136,594

4,861,971 4,261,530 4,631,215

EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSES $ (167,935) $ 644,055 $ 136,406
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CANADIAN ASSOCIATION OF MEDICAL RADIATION TECHNOLOGISTS

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 4

Internal Restrictions
Human

Invested in Competency BCAMRT Legal Resources
General Capital Reserve Profiles Reserve Contingency Contingency 2020 2019

Fund Assets Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Total Total

BALANCE, BEGINNING 
OF YEAR $ 551,300 $ 401,704 $ 1,620,453 $ 152,606 $ - $ - $ - $ 2,726,063 $ 2,589,657

Excess of revenue 
over expenses 751,928 - - (107,873) - - - 644,055 136,406

Acquisition of capital 
assets (60,883) 60,883 - - - - - - -

Amortization of capital 
assets 140,917 (140,917) - - - - - - -

Internally restricted
(Note 8) (405,938) - - 62,500 273,438 40,000 30,000 - -

BALANCE, END 
OF YEAR $ 977,324 $ 321,670 $ 1,620,453 $ 107,233 $ 273,438 $ 40,000 $ 30,000 $ 3,370,118 $ 2,726,063
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CANADIAN ASSOCIATION OF
MEDICAL RADIATION TECHNOLOGISTS

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 2020 5

   
2020 2019

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash $ 1,625,499 $ 1,528,691
Accounts receivable 40,458 164,951
Prepaid expenses 139,807 166,616
Current portion of investments (Note 4) 2,402,802 1,139,075

4,208,566 2,999,333

INVESTMENTS (Note 4) 844,786 1,525,078

CAPITAL ASSETS (Note 5) 321,670 401,704

1,166,456 1,926,782

$ 5,375,022 $ 4,926,115

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 297,800 $ 330,587
Deferred revenue (Note 6) 1,572,209 1,745,674
Due to CAMRT Foundation (Note 9) 76,071 61,439

1,946,080 2,137,700

DEFERRED LEASE INCENTIVE (Note 7) 58,824 62,352

2,004,904 2,200,052

NET ASSETS (Note 8)

Unrestricted General Fund 977,324 551,300
Internally restricted

Invested in Capital Assets 321,670 401,704
Reserve Fund 1,620,453 1,620,453
Competency Profiles Fund 107,233 152,606
BCAMRT Reserve Fund 273,438 -
Legal Contingency Fund 40,000 -
Human Resources Contingency Fund 30,000 -

3,370,118 2,726,063

$ 5,375,022 $ 4,926,115

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

, Director , Director
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CANADIAN ASSOCIATION OF
MEDICAL RADIATION TECHNOLOGISTS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 6

        
2020 2019

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Excess of revenue over expenses $ 644,055 $ 136,406
Adjustments for:
Amortization of capital assets 140,917 136,594
Amortization of deferred lease incentive (3,528) (3,526)

781,444 269,474

Net change in non-cash working capital items:
Accounts receivable 124,493 (67,655)
Prepaid expenses 26,809 (63,471)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (32,787) 23,707
Deferred revenue (173,465) 5,675
Due to CAMRT Foundation 14,632 9,966

(40,318) (91,778)

741,126 177,696

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of capital assets (60,883) (60,829)
Net change in investments (583,435) 528,619

(644,318) 467,790

INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 96,808 645,486

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING
OF YEAR 1,528,691 883,205

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR $ 1,625,499 $ 1,528,691

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash.
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CANADIAN ASSOCIATION OF
MEDICAL RADIATION TECHNOLOGISTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2020 7

1. STATUTE AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

The Canadian Association of Medical Radiation Technologists (the Association), a not-for-profit
organization, is the national association and the certifying body for the medical imaging and
radiation therapy professions in Canada. Its purpose is three-fold:

i) Service to members: to serve and support its members to provide patients the highest quality
of medical imaging and radiation therapy care;

ii) Advocacy: to advocate on behalf of members and the medical imaging and radiation therapy
professions in Canada;

iii) Certification: in collaboration with the stakeholders, to establish the national standard for
entry to practice.

The Association is incorporated without share capital under the Canada Not-for-profit Corporations
Act. The Association is a not-for-profit organization under the Income Tax Act and, as such, is
exempt from income tax. 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Association applies Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations (ASNFPO)
in accordance with Part III of the CPA Canada Handbook – Accounting.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with the ASNFPO requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses for the periods covered.

Revenue recognition

Revenues from membership dues, professional liability insurance, certification, continuing
professional development, sponsorships, conference and other events, publications and advertising
and other are recognized when received or receivable, provided that the amount to be received can be
reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. Revenues received relating to
memberships dues, professional liability insurance, certification and Canada Emergency Wage
Subsidy that pertain to a subsequent year are deferred and recognized as revenue in the period to
which they relate. 

Revenues from transfer of funds are recognized upon receipt of funds and investments are
recognized as earned.

Contributed services

The Association would not be able to carry out its activities without the services of the many
volunteers who donate a considerable number of hours. Because of the inherent difficulty in
compiling these hours and determining their fair value, contributed services are not recognized in the
financial statements.
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CANADIAN ASSOCIATION OF
MEDICAL RADIATION TECHNOLOGISTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2020 8

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Capital assets

Capital assets are accounted for at cost. Amortization is calculated on their respective estimated
useful life using the following methods and annual rates:

Methods Periods

Computer equipment Straight-line method 3 years
Computer software Straight-line method 5 years
Furniture and equipment Diminishing balance 5 years
Office equipment Straight-line method 3 years
Leasehold improvements Straight-line method over the term of the lease

Deferred lease incentive

Lease incentives received by the Organization as rent-free periods are deferred and amortized on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease as a reduction in the rent expense.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Association's policy is to disclose bank balances under cash and cash equivalents, including
bank overdrafts with balances that can fluctuate from being positive to overdrawn. 

Financial instruments

Measurement of financial instruments

The Association initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value, except for
certain non-arm's length transactions.

The Association subsequently measures all its financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized
cost, except for investments in equity instruments that are quoted in an active market and
investments designated at fair value, which are measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are
recognized in operations.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost include cash and accounts receivable.

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost include accounts payable and accrued liabilities and
the due to CAMRT Foundation.

Financial assets measured at fair value include the investments.
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CANADIAN ASSOCIATION OF
MEDICAL RADIATION TECHNOLOGISTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2020 9

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are tested for impairment when there are indicators of
possible impairment. The Association determines whether a significant adverse change has occurred
in the expected timing or amount of future cash flows from the financial asset. If this is the case, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced directly to the higher of the present value of the cash flows
expected to be generated by holding the asset, and the amount that could be realized by selling the
asset at the balance sheet date. The amount of the write-down is recognized in operations. The
previously recognized impairment loss may be reversed to the extent of the improvement, provided it
is no greater than the amount that would have been reported at the date of the reversal had the
impairment not been recognized previously. The amount of the reversal is recognized in operations.

Transaction costs

The Association recognizes its transaction costs in operations in the period incurred. However,
transaction costs related to financial instruments subsequently measured at amortized cost adjust the
carrying amount of the financial asset or liability and are accounted for in the statement of earnings
using the straight-line method.

3. BUDGET

The budget figures presented for comparison purposes are unaudited and were reclassified to
conform with these financial statements. 

4. INVESTMENTS

2020 2019

High interest investment savings account $ 1,403,377 $ 99,986

Government and corporate bonds, 2.75% to 2.78%,
maturing from April 2021 to March 2023 864,967 1,585,443

Guaranteed investment certificates, 2.29% to 2.70%,
maturing from September 2021 to April 2024 958,337 958,792

Canadian and American equities 20,907 19,932

3,247,588 2,664,153

Current portion of investments 2,402,802 1,139,075

$ 844,786 $ 1,525,078
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CANADIAN ASSOCIATION OF
MEDICAL RADIATION TECHNOLOGISTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2020 10

5. CAPITAL ASSETS

Accumulated
Cost amortization 2020 2019

Computer equipment $ 193,986 $ 167,041 $ 26,945 $ 19,873
Computer software 766,447 621,973 144,474 196,851
Furniture and equipment 148,091 105,233 42,858 53,573
Office equipment 92,695 91,307 1,388 1,652
Leasehold improvements 268,334 162,329 106,005 129,755

$ 1,469,553 $ 1,147,883 $ 321,670 $ 401,704

6. DEFERRED REVENUE

Deferred revenue are detailed as follows:

2020 2019

Membership dues $ 1,088,113 $ 1,228,852
Professional liability insurance premiums 132,851 149,302
Certification exam fees and continuing professional

development 324,295 314,870
Other 26,950 52,650

$ 1,572,209 $ 1,745,674

7. DEFERRED LEASE INCENTIVE

The Association has received free base rent and operating expenses in return for signing a lease to
April 20, 2026. The details of the deferred lease incentive are as follows:

2020 2019

Total lease incentive - free rent and operating expenses $ 83,961 $ 83,961
Accumulated amortization (25,135) (21,609)

Balance at year end $ 58,826 $ 62,352
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CANADIAN ASSOCIATION OF
MEDICAL RADIATION TECHNOLOGISTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2020 11

8. INTERNALLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

The internally restricted net assets are comprised of the following elements:

Invested in Capital Assets

The Invested in Capital Assets Fund serves to indicate the portion of net assets which is not available
for use as it has been invested in capital assets.

Reserve Fund

The purpose of the Reserve Fund is to ensure that the Association has funds on hand to provide for
major anticipated or unanticipated events, such as winding down of the Association, or extraordinary
operating expenses. The Reserve Fund policy requires that the fund be set at 35% of the average of
the three prior years' operating budgets.

Competency Profiles Fund

The purpose of the Competency Profiles Fund is to ensure that the Association has the necessary
funds to update and validate the profession's competency profiles, which takes place every five
years. During the year, the Board of Directors approved a transfer in the amount of $62,500 from
the General Fund.

BCAMRT Reserve Fund

The purpose of the Fund, transferred from the now dissolved British Columbia Association of
Medical Radiation Technologists (BCAMRT), is to provide benefits to CAMRT-BC members. The
Fund will be used to guarantee member dues of $60 per annum for a period of 3 years (from 2018-
2020), after which remaining funds are to be used responsibly, and at CAMRT’s discretion such as
reduced cost access to CPD, research and educational grants, special advocacy campaigns and
special educational events. During the year, the Board of Directors approved a transfer in the
amount of $273,438 from the General Fund.

Legal Contingency Fund

The purpose of the Legal Contingency Fund is to ensure that the Association has legal defence
against potential legal issues such as remote proctoring of the certification exam. During the year,
the Board of Directors approved a transfer in the amount of $40,000 from the General Fund.

Human Resources Contingency Fund

The purpose of the Human Resources Contingency Fund is to ensure that the Association is able to
handle unanticipated human resources related expenses, such as severance pay, without affecting
operating budgets and the ability of the Association to deliver on its work. During the year, the
Board of Directors approved a transfer in the amount of $30,000 from the General Fund.
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CANADIAN ASSOCIATION OF
MEDICAL RADIATION TECHNOLOGISTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2020 12

9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The CAMRT Foundation (the Foundation) was created in 1987 by four members of CAMRT to be a
vehicle for supporting activities that promote and advance the profession of medical radiation
technology and those practising the profession. The Foundation is a registered charity that gathers
funds that are used to support:

i) Medical radiation technologists and students in educational programs;

ii) Qualified individuals to further their professional development; and

iii) Qualified individuals who want to advance the profession of medical radiation technology
nationally and internationally through research, consultation, or direct assistance.

The investments held by the Association and the Foundation are combined to realize the best possible
rate of return, according to their investment policies. The interest revenue allocated to the
Foundation during the year was $2,053 (2019: $1,768). CAMRT and the Foundation are related by
virtue of common objectives and management. In addition, certain members of the CAMRT Board
of Directors also serve on the Foundation's Board.

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount
which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other
party by failing to discharge an obligation. The Association’s main credit risks relate to its accounts
receivable. The Association provides credit to its clients in the normal course of its operations.

Also, the Association continuously reviews the financial situation of its clients and examines the
credit history of all new clients. The Association establishes allowances for doubtful accounts while
keeping in mind the specific credit risk of clients, their historic tendencies and economic situation.
There is no existing account receivable that represents a substantial risk for the Association.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. As at December 31, 2020, assets include
cash as well as investments of $1,456 and $16,416 respectively (2019: $883 and $15,249) in US
dollars, which have been converted into Canadian dollars.

Market risk

Investment in financial instruments renders the Association subject to market risks. These risks arise
particularly from changes in interest rates and the degree of volatility of these rates. They also
include the risks arising from the failure of a party to a financial instrument to discharge an
obligation when it is due.
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CANADIAN ASSOCIATION OF
MEDICAL RADIATION TECHNOLOGISTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2020 13

10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Concentration of risk exists when a significant proportion of the portfolio is invested in securities
with similar characteristics or subject to similar economic, political and other conditions. The
Association has established a formalized investment policy in order to mitigate this risk.

11. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

The Association maintains a defined contribution benefit plan for the majority of its employees. The
terms of the defined contribution benefit plan requires the Association to contribute 5% of salaries to
employees' Registered Retirement Savings Plans. Salaries, benefits and other staff expenses includes
$84,530 (2019: $77,935) of contributions paid with respect of the defined contribution benefit plan.

12. COMMITMENTS

The commitments of the Association under lease agreements aggregate to $1,340,845. The
instalments over the next years are the following:

  
2021 $ 247,080
2022 $ 249,440
2023 $ 249,735
2024 $ 250,035
2025 $ 250,345
Others $ 94,210

The Association has also entered into a service agreement for the development and administration of
exams. The future minimum payment for next year is $101,175.

13. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to be consistent with the current year’s
presentation.
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2020 Finances 

Category Total
Provincial Member Dues 101, 982

Total $101, 982

REVENUES

Category Total
Salaries, Administration 53, 480

Travel, Accommodation 3, 183

Marketing, Communications, Special Projects 20, 658

Total $77,321

EXPENSES

CAMRT-BC set $60 for provincial member dues in 2017 based on budgeting that 
included a provincial manager working from the province, local events, education 
and marketing activities, and support from the CAMRT office in core areas of 
organizational operations (e.g., finances, IT, membership, etc.). We are pleased 
that we have been able to maintain dues at the $60 level each year in operation. 
Over the 2020 fiscal year, CAMRT-BC collected $101, 982 in provincial dues from 
members, and spent money in the areas designated below.

N.B. The CAMRT monitors the difference between revenue and expenses at CAMRT-BC 
to ensure it remains within the budgeted range (based on the estimate for the provincial 
business model of 0.6 FTE for coordination and admin service for the province). Until a 
point where a dedicated coordinator or administrative support person is required, any 
net surplus is allocated to offset the cost of Shared Services from within the CAMRT 
Ottawa office, in support of the provision of services to support BC-specific activities (e.g., 
accounting, graphic design, etc.).

RESERVE FUNDS 

Reserve funds belonging to the BCAMRT were transferred to the CAMRT in 2020. This was an 
outcome of the formal dissolution of BCAMRT as a “Society” and a result of the creation of the 
CAMRT-BC to provide provincial association services in that province. An internal restricted fund 
was created to hold these funds until such time as they are needed to provide benefits and services 
to the members in British Columbia.
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Treasurer’s Report to the Membership for the 

Fiscal Year Ended December 31st, 2020 
 

 

Objective: 

To provide the membership with the overall summary of the financial position of 

the CAMRT, as provided to me during our annual Finance Committee and auditor 

teleconference which took place on February 24th, 2021. 

 

We started the year with net assets balance of: $2,726,063 
End of December balance: $3,370,118 

Net Surplus: $644,055 

 

High-level Overview: 

1. British Columbia Fund: Reserve funds belonging to the BCAMRT were 

transferred to the CAMRT in 2020. This was an outcome of the formal 
dissolution of BCAMRT as a "Society" and a result of the creation of the 

CAMRT-BC to provide provincial association services in that province. An 

internal restricted fund was created to hold these funds until such time as 

they are needed to provide benefits and services to the members in British 

Columbia.  

2. Revenues: Did not change much, except cancellation of the Conference 

resulted in no revenue but some expenses, and we spent more on MRT week. 

3. Expenses: Changes in 2020 due to COVID consisted of no or limited travel, 

accommodations, and per diem. Federal Wage Subsidy funding for three 

periods. 

4. The Board has agreed to allocate funds for a Legal and an HR contingency fund. 

5. The Board has reviewed the detailed third quarter financial statements, year-

end forecast, and variance analysis report for 2020. 

6. Considered and approved the proposed 2021 budget for recommendation 

to the Board of Directors at t h e i r  November 2020 meeting. 

7. Reviewed projections of CAMRT reserves through to the end of 2021. 

8. Reviewed and accepted the Risk Management Plan. 

 

The audit of the 2020 financial statements was successfully conducted by the firm 

of Marcil Lavallée Chartered Professional Accountants. The audit was presented by 

Marc Brazeau, CPA, CA, Partner. It was comprised of a review of the statements of 
operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year, and notes to the 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. It was 

their opinion that the accompanying financial statements presented fairly in all 

material respects. The financial position of the Association as at December 31, 

2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, 
was in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 

organizations. The financial statements of the Association for the year ended 

December 31, 2019, were audited by another auditor who expressed an 

unmodified opinion on those financial statements on March 2, 2020. 
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Attestation: 

I certify the closing cash balance of Canadian Association of Medical Radiation 

Technologists is true and correct based upon the documents I have been provided 

by the Auditor, management, and my reliance on acceptable internal controls. 

 

 
Elizabeth Lorusso 

Treasurer & Chair of the Finance Committee 
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Controller’s Notes to the 2020 Statement of Operations 
 

 

These notes are supplementary to the auditor’s notes in providing supporting 

variance analysis information of actual revenue and expenditure versus 

budget concerning the audited year-end statement of operations. 
 

At the year end of 2020, CAMRT managed to maintain a healthy financial 

position with a net income of $644,055. Besides of the expense savings due 

to the Covid related business interruptions, a $273,438 reserve fund transfer 

from BCAMRT and a $180,346 Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy payment 
contributed to the year-end net income. 

 

In order to take advantage of this surplus, two new internally restricted 

funds- Legal Contingency Fund ($40K) and one-time HR contingency fund 

($30K) were approved and set up in 2020. A $62,500 was transferred to 

Future of MRT Education to meet its 5-year commitment. In addition to this, 
the Board of Directors approved a deficit budget for 2021, to allow CAMRT 

team to take further advantage of the surplus by completing projects that 

could not be completed in 2020. 

 

Please refer to the notes below for significant revenue and expenditure items, 
compared with budget, as well as other variances reflecting information 

that is deemed of interest to the Board or the membership: 

 

REVENUE  

 
• Cancellations of in-person events 

Even all planned events had been virtually delivered in 2020, the revenue 

loss ($247K) had affected CAMRT significantly. Thanks for Canada 

Emergency Wage Subsidy program, this unplanned revenue loss had been 

recognized by the CRA and therefore supported CAMRT’s application for 
CEWS. 

 

• Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy 

Due to conference revenue loss described above, CAMRT qualified with CEWS 

periods 1 and 2, and deemed period 3. The total subsidy payment ($180K) 

was received from CAR in December 2020. 
 

• BCAMRT reserve fund transfer 

Reserve funds belonging to the BCAMRT were transferred to the CAMRT in 

2020. This was an outcome of the formal dissolution of BCAMRT as a 

"Society" and a result of the creation of the CAMRT-BC to provide provincial 
association services in that province. An internally restricted fund was 
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created to hold these funds until such time as they are needed to provide 

benefits and services to the members in British Columbia. 

 
 

• Membership dues 

A $13K drop on membership due revenue was mainly due to COVID-related 

early retirements and membership resignations. 

 
 

• Certification 

A $71K drop on certification revenue was mainly due to COVID-related lower 

students and international applicants.  

 

• Continuing professional development  
The higher enrollment of quick self study contributed a lot to a $55K revenue 

improvement in CPD. This trend reflected the new work-life norm during the 

pandemic.  

 

 
EXPENSE  

 

Same as other institutions, CAMRT experienced a variety of expense 

variances due to adaptions and transitions to the new business norm in 

2020. COVID-related travel restrictions affected significantly on expenses of 
activities below: 

 

• Awards program 

 

• Publications 
 

• Advocacy and promotion 

 

• Education committees 

 

• Future of MRT education 
 

• Education advisory council 

 

• External liaison 

 
• Governance 

 

• Professional practice and research 

 

• Annual general conference 
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In the meantime, CAMRT utilized and reallocated financial recourses to 

support MRT Week in 2020. 

 
All activities will be delivered virtually in 2021 until in-person activities 

reassume in the guide of local public heath authorities. 

 

 

• General office administration 
General office and administration expense had been slightly affected by 

COVID-related restrictions comparing with other activities.  

 

o Salary, benefits and other staff expenses 

Cost saving ($99K) was due to the delayed staffing in the Professional 

Practice and Research team and Finance team, and cancellations of staff 
travels after the mid-March. 

 

o Office expense and depreciation expense 

The increase ($33K) was due to upgrades on IT infrastructure related to 

workplace adaptions. 
 

o Professional fees 

The increase ($11K) was due to the more demands on legal advisory regards 

virtual certification and operations in general.  
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General

Competency 

Profiles Total General

Competency 

Profiles Total

Revenue

Membership dues 2,189,200 2,189,200 2,224,628 2,224,628

Professional liability insurance 258,650 258,650 280,516 280,516

Certification 955,550 955,550 915,340 915,340

Continuing professional development 844,295 844,295 873,607 873,607

Publications and advertising 13,000 13,000 13,215 13,215

Sponsorships 55,000 55,000 31,300 31,300

Investment 50,000 50,000 78,957 78,957

Administration fees and miscellaneous 41,350 41,350 33,018 33,018

Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy 180,346 180,346

BCAMRT reserve fund transfer 273,438 273,438

Annual general conference and other events 127,842 127,842 1,220 1,220

4,534,887 0 4,534,887 4,905,585 0 4,905,585

Expenses

Annual general conference and other events 144,136 144,136 54,776 54,776

Member services

Professional liability insurance 258,650 258,650 279,139 279,139

Awards program and sponsorships 55,749 55,749 16,900 16,900

Marketing and general 27,145 27,145 22,145 22,145

Advocacy and communications

Publications 222,157 222,157 217,797 217,797

MRT Week 89,180 89,180 104,203 104,203

Advocacy and promotion 39,391 39,391 21,173 21,173

Education

Education advisory council 1,470 1,470 2,575 2,575

Future of MRT education 14,800 14,800 78,737 78,737

Certification 0

Exam development and maintenance 237,662 237,662 230,351 230,351

Certification committees 44,504 44,504 87,005 87,005

Continuing professional development

Course development and maintenance 219,190 219,190 191,165 191,165

CPD Committees 0 0 12,737 12,737

Professional practice 61,206 61,206 2,954 2,954

General office administration

Rent 217,109 217,109 215,438 215,438

Amortization of capital assets 140,629 140,629 140,917 140,917

Salaries and staff travels 2,337,936 2,337,936 2,119,815 2,119,815

Professional services 121,969 121,969 55,268 55,268

Office expenses 290,690 290,690 325,124 325,124

Governance 97,317 97,317 21,156 21,156

External liaison 92,507 92,507 62,155 62,155

4,698,598 14,800 4,713,398 4,182,793 78,737 4,261,530

Net revenue (expense) for the year -163,711 -14,800 -178,511 722,792 -78,737 644,055

2021 (Budget) 2020 (Actual)



2020 COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 

Committee Name: ADVOCACY ADVISORY COUNCIL (AAC) 

Purpose: This Council provides advice and support to the Canadian Association 

of Medical Radiation Technologists (CAMRT) staff and Board of Directors 

regarding the effective implementation of the CAMRT Advocacy Plan with respect 

to government relations and other advocacy activities. Among its roles and 

responsibilities are:  

a) Assessing emerging political issues affecting and influencing MRT practice

and health care.

b) Consulting on submissions to government(s) on significant issues affecting

and influencing MRT practice and healthcare.

c) Assisting with the annual review and updating of the government relations

component of the CAMRT advocacy plan.
d) Collaborating with provincial organizations on government relations

strategies at a local level, as appropriate.

e) Assisting with the annual review and update of CAMRT advocacy tools.

Committee Chair (end of term in parenthesis): Dina Longo (2021) 

Committee Members (end of term in parenthesis): 

Dina Longo, RTR (2021) 

Stacie Dagenais, RTR (2020) 

Fiona Mitchell, RTT (2022) 

Darren Oczkowski, RTMR (2022) 

Jonathan Bower, RTNM (2021) 

Sandra Luke, RTR (2021) 

Gailyne MacPherson (2021) 

Tanya Dickey, RTMR (2022, Board representative) 

Issues and difficulties experienced by the committee and their resolution 

There was no face-to-face meeting of the committee in 2020. In its place, the 

committee held a series of teleconferences at key junctures to discuss strategic 

advocacy projects. Meetings were used to ensure strategic advice was conveyed 

from committee to CAMRT staff. Opportunities were also seized to work 

collaboratively online. 

Achievements 

Strategic advocacy priorities 

57



• The AAC flagged and discussed important developments across the country

and across disciplines for advocacy throughout 2020.

• The AAC addressed questions from CAMRT staff relating to these and other
advocacy issues.

Position paper reviews 

• In previous meetings, the AAC emphasized importance of CAMRT taking

formal public positions on important topics.
• In 2020, CAMRT published formal position on PPE, which proved pivotal in

shifts in PPE access for MRTs.

• In the summer of 2020, the AAC was involved in the preliminary

development of the CAMRT position on gonadal and fetal shielding and

associated materials.

• Later in the year, several members of the council were also involved in
developing the position on MRT burnout.

MRT Awareness campaign 

• The AAC discussed how the CAMRT National MRT Awareness campaign could

take shape, emphasizing the importance of showing the essential nature of
the profession, the diversity of roles, and considering the events of the

pandemic, the front-line nature of MRT work.

• A National Awareness campaign was developed in coordination with the

Ottawa creative agency, Alphabet, and deployed in the week leading up to

MRT Week and throughout the months of November and December 2020.
• In addition to more than 4,000 posters in 500 departments/institutions

across Canada, the online advertising was received by millions of Canadians

(~10 million impressions on social media platforms).

Priorities for next year 

• Continue national awareness campaign for the MRT profession.

• Identify more opportunities to add the MRT voice to important issues (e.g.,

COVID-19 vaccines)

• Develop and publish further position statements on issues of importance and

to the MRT profession.

• Identify topics and trends for current or future advocacy, or for study as a
possible advocacy area.

• Continue to expand communication of CAMRT advocacy to members.
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2020 COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 

Committee Name: CANADIAN DOSIMETRY CERTIFICATE COMMITTEE 

Purpose: Maintain a national certificate program that is reflective of current 

practice and recognizes the expertise and competency of those working in or 

aspiring to work in the clinical area of dosimetry. 

Committee Chair (end of term in parenthesis): Mike Dickey, CDC (Alberta) 

(December 31, 2021) 

Committee Members (end of term in parenthesis): 

Leah Classen, CMD, CDC (PEI) (December 31, 2021) 

Vickie Kong, CMD (Ontario) (December 31, 2021) 

Lindsey Baker, CMD (British Columbia) (December 31, 2022) 

Issues and difficulties experienced by the committee and their resolution 

• Number of literature reviews in the courses were deemed too many.  This

was a discouraging aspect for the students.

• Some CDC candidates have been handing in the research proposal to the
committee very near the end of their deadlines.  The proposals almost

always require corrections and resubmission, which puts them past the

deadline.

Achievements 

• COMP has reviewed and endorsed the program.

• A number of literature reviews were eliminated, and new assignments

written in their place.

• Adjustments in wording have been made to both the Handbook and

Summary of Clinical Competencies.

Priorities for next year 

• Refine rubrics for assignments (not achieved this year).

• Review comments, adjustment, and recommendations from COMP, and

incorporate them into the course material.
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2020 COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 

Committee Name: CERTIFICATE IN BREAST IMAGING (CBIS/CBID) 

Purpose: The Certificate(s) in Breast Imaging provides a mechanism for 

radiological technologists to demonstrate knowledge and competence in the field 

of breast imaging, to promote standards of excellence and to identify those who 

have met a nationally recognized standard.   

The purpose of this committee is to maintain a national certificate program that is 
reflective of current practice and recognizes the expertise and competency of 

those working in or aspiring to work in breast imaging.  

Committee Chair (place end of term in parenthesis): 

Tracy Mann, MRT(R), CBI, CTIC, Lindsay, ON (2021) 

Committee Members (place end of term in parenthesis): 

Pat Vereschagin, MRT(R), ACR, CBID, Saskatoon, SK (2020) 

Jennifer Schwehr, MRT(R), CBI, Calgary, AB (2022) 

Erin Robitaille, MRT(R), CBIS, CBID, Penticton/Kelowna, BC (2023) 

Issues and difficulties experienced by the committee and their resolution 

Challenges faced by Committee this past year include: 

• Responding to concerns from BC groups over meeting requirements of

CBID which lead to a Committee teleconference on February 1st, 2020 to

discuss concerns (formal response letters were sent to groups as outcome
of this discussion).

• Covering the required content in the annual meeting due to the condensed

timeframe due to the pandemic (which resulted in a lot of individual work

rather than the collaborative effort that is usually done).

• Addressing an increase in extension requests due to pandemic.

Achievements 

At the annual meeting held virtually on October 7th, 2020, the following items 

were addressed: 

• successful revision of CBIS & CBID Handbooks and Summary of Clinical

Competence to remove references to obsolete Mammo 1 & 2 courses and
updates to clinical competencies;

• review of CB exam and breast imaging courses outcomes and comments;

• review of Breast Cancer QSS, identifying gaps and updated content; and

• review of hour requirement for CBID.

Committee members Tracy and Pat have completed the review of submitted 
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clinical competencies for 62 candidates in 2020. 

Priorities for next year 

Priorities for the Committee next year include: 

• Elimination of CB exams.
• Continued review of Summary of Clinical Competence to ensure relevant to

current practice.
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2020 COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 

Committee Name: CERTIFICATE OF INTERVENTIONAL RADIOLOGY (CIR) 

Purpose: The purpose of this committee is to maintain a national certificate 

program that is reflective of current practice and recognizes the expertise and 
competence of those working in or aspiring to work in Interventional Radiology.  

Committee Chair (end of term in parenthesis): Jamie Eliasson, BSc., RTR 

(December 31, 2020) 

Committee Members (end of term in parenthesis): 

Jackie Garnhum, RTR, CIR, Alberta (December 31, 2020) 

Kerri Smith, RTR, British Columbia (December 31, 2021) 

Anna Barantseva, RTR, CIR, CTIC, Ontario (December 31, 2022) 

Issues and difficulties experienced by the committee and their resolution 

Due to COVID-19, our annual meeting was held virtually instead of in person as 

planned. This is the second year in a row it was virtual, so we found it more 

difficult to get to know the committee members, as well as go through the course 
material as detailed as has been done in past years. All members did review 

material prior to meeting and came with edits to suggest. The team also met 

virtually on their own time a few times to discuss committee and future plans. 

Both the chair and a team member will have finished their terms at the end of 
December 2020. Two additional members were recruited for January 2021. 

Jamie (current chair) will stay on as consultant for 2021 to ease transition of two 

new members and attend annual meeting. Kerri Smith will replace Jamie as 

Chair.  

With Jackie leaving the committee, Anna Bareantseva will take over as exam 

coordinator for the vascular anatomy exam. 

Achievements 

• Eighteen candidates registered for the CIR program in 2020, with 19

completing the CIR certificate throughout the year.

• A total of 31 candidates completed the full IR1 course, and 16 completed

IR2.

• Fall 2020 IR1 course had a significantly higher number of students than
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past few terms which was promising. Having the summer exam write likely 

was part of the reason for this, which should continue. 

• A new instructor was recruited for IR2. Proposed changes by a previous

member were put into place by the new instructor who is not a committee

member.

• Major edits were made to IR1 final exam to reflect feedback from course
evaluations and to be more in line with other CAMRT certificate program

final exams.

• CIR outline document was created and sent to CAIR to request program

endorsement.

Priorities for next year: 

• IR2 exam to have major edits to align with other CAMRT certificate courses

final exams. A shift is being made to have both IR exams be fully multiple

choice over the next couple of terms.

• Continuous updates to vascular anatomy exam based on feedback.

• Virtual meeting set for Spring 2021.

• Improve recruitment strategies for IR courses/certificate program.
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2020 COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 

Committee Name: COMPUTED TOMOGRAPHY IMAGING COMMITTEE (CTIC) 

Purpose: The purpose of this committee is to maintain a national certificate 

program that is reflective of current practice and recognizes the expertise and 
competency of those working in or aspiring to work in the three clinical areas of 

CT Imaging, CT Imaging for Radiation Therapists and PET/CT for Nuclear 

Medicine Technologists. 

Committee Chair (end of term in parenthesis): Ada Bunko, MSc, RTT, CTRT 

(31/12/2022) 

Committee Members (end of term in parenthesis): 

Nicole Deveau, RTR, CTIC (31/12/2023) 

Cheryl McGregor, RTT, ACT, CTRT (31/12/2022) 

Nichole Bower, RTNM (31/12/2022) 

Kathryn Woodford, RTNM (31/12/2021) 

Myrna Lingenfelter, CBI, CTIC, RTR (31/12/2021) 

Issues and difficulties experienced by the committee and their resolution 

As with many programs, COVID-19 has not been kind to our students. We have 

had many requests from candidates for extensions on their programs as 

mandatory clinical competencies (for instance, CPR) were not able to be 

completed in this environment. Additionally, with clinical lockdowns in place, 

many of our candidates were not able to transfer to sister clinics to perform some 
of the competencies. The committee was as flexible as possible with these 

students and provided extensions when deemed feasible. We are hoping that 

those still in the program will be able to complete their course on time. 

Achievements 

Despite the pandemic, we have had significant achievements in the 2020 year. 

The revisions of both CT 2 and CT 3 were brought online, as well as the initiation 
of the Anatomy Exam. I would like to take this time to recognize all the work that 

has gone into the revisions of CT 2 and CT 3. The time and energy that the team 

put into these revised offerings are to be commended. Special thanks to Myrna as 

she took on the project of creating the Anatomy package for the candidates. The 

premise behind the need to change stemmed from the recognition that the CT 
courses should focus more on pathology rather than sectional anatomy.  

In terms of course registrants (Winter 2020 and Fall 2020), a summary is 

provided below: 
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Course Completion: 

CT Imaging 1: 228 
CT Imaging 2: 231 

CT Imaging 3: 278 

CT 2 – RTT: 7 

CT 3 – RTT: 3 

PET CT: 5 
CT Anatomy Exam (Fall 2020 only): 44 

Certificate Registrations: 

CTIC: 211 

CTRT: 7 

PET CT: 3 

Certificate Completions: 

CTIC: 168 

CTRT: 7 

PET CT: 3 

Winter 2021 Registrations: 

CT Imaging 1: 103 

CT Imaging 2: 67 

CT Imaging 3: 18 
CT 2 – RTT: 4 

CT 3 – RTT: 6 

PET CT: 5 

CT Anatomy Exam: 104 

CT 1 PLAR registrations to date: 58 

Priorities for next year 

We will be having a teleconference meeting in June 2021 as face-to-face 

meetings will not be feasible. We will also be monitoring the Anatomy Exam and 

make modifications as required. The committee members have also noticed that 

a large percentage of our students are completing the Summary of Clinical 
Competence (SCC) in a very short amount of time. In our upcoming meeting, we 

will be addressing this and hopefully coming up with some modifications to the 

SCC that will ensure that the candidates are truly performing the required tasks.  

The main priority, as always, is to keep the CT imaging certificate relevant to our 

changing environment. We are listening to our students as they provide feedback 
and making sure that we are offering the depth and breadth of knowledge that is 

expected of a full program.  
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2020 COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 

Committee Name: EDUCATION ADVISORY COUNCIL (EAC) 

Purpose: To advise and support the (CAMRT) staff and Board of Directors on 

current and future educational requirements essential for safe and effective 
practice in medical radiation technology. 

Committee Chair: Cathryne Palmer, MRT(T), CIA, MSc (Ontario) 

Committee Members: 

Angela Cashell, MRT(T), AC(T), CIA, MSc (Ontario) 

Ariel Adamson, BA, BHSc, RTMR (Saskatchewan)  

Jenny Soo, RTT, ACT, MEd, (British Columbia) 

Jennifer Brown, MEd, MRT(R) (Alberta) 

Jeremy Phipps, RTNM (Manitoba) 

Julie Avery, MHS, BSc (HSc), RTNM, CTIC (Nova Scotia), Regulatory Rep 

Maria Boyd, MRT(MR) MRT(R) BSc, MEd (Ontario) 

Marie-Pier Chagnon, RTT (Quebec) 

Nichole Smith, BHSc RTNM (Nova Scotia) 

Stephanie Pearson, RTR (Newfoundland) 

Wendy Lawson, (Ontario), Dean of Health Science Program Rep 

All members began their two-year term in 2019, renewable for one further term. 

Issues and difficulties experienced by the committee and their resolution 

The EAC was originally scheduled to meet in-person at the CAMRT 2020 Annual 

Conference, which was cancelled due to COVID 19. A virtual meeting was held in 

October 2020.  

Achievements 

Certification: 

• Director of Education (DoE) submitted to Council a report on the Certification

process for 2020.

• The report highlighted the enormous amount of work it took the team at
CAMRT to transition to a virtually proctored certification exam in response to

the COVID-19 pandemic.

o Kudos should be given to the Certification Team as the CAMRT May

2020 examination write was only delayed by 2 weeks, which allowed

many new graduates to enter the workforce without significant delay.
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Continuing Professional Development: 

• DoE submitted to Council a report on the CPD activities of the CAMRT for
2020. 

• CAMRT had a busy CPD year with CAMRT delivering relevant and timely CPD

offerings. It was highlighted that mental health and stress management topics

seemed to be of high importance and relevance to MRTs during the past year

and thus development of CPD educational opportunities in this area should
continue to be a priority.

Strategic Planning: 

• The Council was asked to consider the CAMRT’s Strategic Priorities for

Education as the CAMRT enters the next Strategic Plan cycle.

• There were several themes discussed including:
o Supporting a transitioning education environment and envisioning what

the “next” new competency profile should take into consideration given

our changing didactic and clinical education landscape.

o Supporting and driving innovation in entry-to-practice education - How

to leverage innovation.
o Focus on innovation, quality and diversification in the format of CPD

offerings.

Continuing Competence Portfolio Guide: 

• The EAC was asked to review the Continuing Competence Portfolio Guide, a

document that is 10 years old. The Council voted unanimously to retire this

document.

Priorities for next year 

• Map out a plan for member renewals of terms to ensure continuity and

appropriate succession planning.

• Continue to prioritize educational offerings to support the development of

the Micro-certificate Program. The Council recommends the following
priority areas:

o Communication

o AI & Digital Literacy

o Leadership/Management

• Development of CPD educational opportunities in the areas of mental
health and stress management.
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2020 COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 

Committee Name: FELLOWSHIP COMMITTEE 

Purpose: To develop and maintain a structure that provides a mechanism for the 

recognition of exceptional achievements and contributions by CAMRT members 

and to encourage work in areas that improve the profile of the profession. 

Committee Chair:  Gerald Gelowitz, RTT, British Columbia 

Committee Members: 

• Vanessa Reis, RTR, Ontario

• Karen Kennedy, MR, Ontario

• Louise Rainey, RTNM, Alberta

Issues and difficulties experienced by the committee and their resolution 

None to report. 

Achievements 

• The committee wishes to thank Samantha Milton for her contributions to

the committee over the past five years.

• Welcome to new committee member Louise Rainey, RTNM, Alberta.
• Three new fellowship candidates enrolled into the program.

• Held a virtual meeting with all committee members to discuss governance,

committee processes, fellowship guide, and enrolled candidates.

Priorities for next year 

• Will assist and support six active candidates pursuing fellowship.

• Continue with mentorship of new committee members.

• Host a virtual committee meeting.
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2020 COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 

Committee Name: PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE ADVISORY COUNCIL (PPAC) 

Purpose: The purpose of the PPAC is to provide advice and support to the 

CAMRT board and staff regarding current and future matters affecting the 
practice of medical radiation technology. 

Committee Chair (end of term in parenthesis): Jennifer Carey, RTR, CTIC 

(Second Term, December 2020) 

Committee Members (end of term in parenthesis): 

Nicole Bemister, RTR, CBIS - BC (First Term, December 2020) 

Kim Rans, RTT – AB (Second Term, December 2020) 

Leslie Veale, RTR, RTMR – MB (Second Term, December 2020) 

Amy Munroe, RTR – NS (Second Term, December 2020) 
Deborah Murley, RTR – PE (Second Term, December 2020) 

Megan Brydon, RTNM – NS (First Term, December 2020) 

Andrew Murphy, RTR – Member at Large (First Term, December 2020) 

Stephanie Schofield, RTR – Member-at-Large (Second Term, December 

2020) 

Issues and difficulties experienced by the committee and their resolution 

The COVID-19 pandemic rendered the committee unable to meet in person. It 

was also difficult to get any conversations or engagement on the Slack Platform. 

Achievements 

The PPAC was able to be a secondary read for the new BPG’s and position 
statements that arose throughout the pandemic. The Sub-Committees were also 

a source of information on how COVID has affected their respective fields. Many 

members of the PPAC have also contributed to the development and review of a 

number of surveys and other documentation produced by the CAMRT Professional 

Practice department, including the CAMRT COVID-19 surveys and the Personal 
Protective Equipment (PPE) position statement. 

Priorities for next year 

Formalize the committee structure and reignite PPAC committees and sub-

committees. Particular focuses will include a position on contact shielding and 

investigating artificial intelligence from an MRT perspective. 
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2020 EXTERNAL LIAISON ANNUAL REPORT 

External Organization Name: ASSOCIATED SCIENCES CONSORTIUM 

Purpose: The Associated Sciences Consortium represents 11 professional 
organizations within diagnostic imaging from the US, and internationally 

represented by Canada, the UK and the ISRRT.  The group is responsible for 

developing education programs for members of these organizations annually at 

the RSNA. 

CAMRT Representative’s Name (end of term in parenthesis): 

Catherine Gunn, BSc, RTR MBA (December 2021) 

Issues and difficulties experienced by the Representative and their 
resolution 

The committee faced a number of challenges in 2020, most notably the move to 

online delivery of RSNA. A smaller group of courses were chosen to highlight in 

an online format, and the group met virtually to plan for 2021.  It was 

disappointing to not be able to showcase many of our speakers in 2020, but we 

hope that they can be a part of RSNA 2021. 

Achievements of the External Organization 

Due to COVID 19, only three sessions were showcased in a virtual format: 
1. Understanding Radiology Group Consolidation: Strategic, Practical, and

Legal Considerations;

2. Using Big Data to Improve Practice; and

3. Emerging Technology in Breast Imaging.

Priorities of the External Organization for next year 

Changes to the format for RSNA 2021 will see a reduction in the overall number 

of courses offered, as the conference will be shortened by one day. Lectures will 

be 60 minutes in the new format as opposed to 90. 

The Associated Sciences Consortium will work closely with the ASRT to deliver 

education to a broad audience. Sessions that were not able to be presented in 

2020 will move to 2021, and some new ones added.  As there are many new 

members to the group, the team will work together for a streamlined delivery. 

Planned sessions for 2021 include: 
1. Artificial Intelligence in the Hands of Medical Imaging and Radiation

Therapy Professionals Part I: AI in Practice and a Future with AI.

2. Radiation Safety Culture for Technologists.

3. AI Productivity – The Dash for Cash.

4. Organization of the Work Day.
5. Implementing the Critical Relationships of Quality and Performance for

Effective Imaging Services.

6. Patient Voice: The Power of Patient Engagement on Education and Service

Development.

7. Career Ladders – Navigating Your Way.
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2020 EXTERNAL LIAISON ANNUAL REPORT 

External Organization Name:  CANADA SAFE IMAGING (CSI) 

Purpose:  CSI represents a collaborative undertaking between professional 

associations, universities, colleges, national research institutions and hospitals. 

Within each sector, a multi-disciplinary approach has also been adopted, 

involving partners, researchers, technologists, medical and health physicists and 

other health care providers using or prescribing the use of radiation.  

CSI focuses on strengthening medical radiation protection in patients and 

fostering a culture of radiation safety in healthcare. The primary responsibility of 

CSI is to develop awareness and adoption of current and emerging radiation 

patient protection strategies for Canadians, promote procedural appropriateness 

that attains greatest medical benefit, support evidence-based best practice 

guidelines and facilitate a strategic approach to conduct scientific inquiry on the 
effects of radiation on human health. 

CAMRT Representative’s Name: David Wormald, MRT(R)(MR), BA, MBA, C. Dir 

Issues and difficulties experienced by the Representative and their 

resolution 

Despite the COVID-19 pandemic and executive leadership capacity challenges, 

the 2019 CSI work plan was completed.    

Achievements of the External Organization 
This year’s activities focused on continuing the promotion of the CSI profile, 

brand awareness and the Bonn-Call-for-Action.  Building upon the 2019 renewed 

Strategic and Business Plan the following initiatives were completed:  

1. Finalized the RSIC service level agreement.

2. The CSI website was updated to include a link to evidence-based international
standards on safe imaging.

3. Developed and implemented a letter of interest to solicit financial support from

granting agencies in support of CSI financial sustainability.

4. Developed the CSI Star Program.

5. Developed a draft CSI article re. Canada Safe Imaging: Justification for a
Radiation Safety Campaign in Canada.

6. David Wormald submitted an abstract to the 2020 ISRRT Conference re:

'Canada Safe Imaging - Radiation Protection and Safety: Awareness and

Implementation of the Bonn Call for Action Priorities in Canada’. The abstract

was approved for presentation in August 2020; however, postponed until

August 2021 due to COVID-19.

Priorities of the External Organization for next year 
1. Pilot and evaluate the CSI Star Program at Hamilton Health Sciences and

University Health Network. 

2. Submit CSI article re. Canada Safe Imaging: Justification for a Radiation

Safety Campaign in Canada to CMAJ and CARJ.

3. David Wormald to provide presentation at ISRRT conference 2021 – pending.
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2020 EXTERNAL LIAISON ANNUAL REPORT 

External Organization Name:  CANM-CARS REGULATORY CONSULTATIVE GROUP/

GOOD MANUFACTURING PRACTICES FOR SPECT WORKING GROUP 

Purpose: To provide a collaborative framework in the fields of nuclear medicine 

and radiopharmaceutical sciences.  This allows a unified perspective and voice 

with various initiatives and government collaboration. 

CAMRT Representative’s Name (end of term in parenthesis): 

Dacia Richmond, MRT(NM), BSc (December 2020) 

Issues and difficulties experienced by the Representative and their 

resolution 

Due to the pandemic, meetings with stakeholders were limited. 

Achievements of the External Organization 

Through collaboration and discussion, the group has been kept abreast of 

developments including the renaming of the Health Canada Biologics and Genetic 

Therapies Directorate to the more appropriate and accurate Biologic and 
Radiopharmaceutical Drugs Directorate. 

A bilateral meeting between Health Canada and the CANM-CARS group was held 

virtually on September 2020. Fulsome discussion was held strengthening the 

relationship between organizations. 

Priorities of the External Organization for next year 

To continue to collaborate within the group, as well as with external stakeholders, 

such as government and industry. 
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2020 EXTERNAL LIAISON ANNUAL REPORT 

External Organization Name:  CANADIAN BREAST CANCER SCREENING NETWORK 

Purpose: To review, discuss and take action on Federal, Provincial, Territorial 

and interprovincial matters of mutual concern related to breast cancer screening 

and to identify and develop appropriate national recommendations. 

CAMRT Representative’s Name: Nicole Bemister, RTR, CBIS 

Issues and difficulties experienced by the Representative and their 

resolution 

Due to COVID-19, all meetings have been virtual. There were two meetings in 

2020 and one so far in 2021. Unfortunately, all meetings have been on 

weekday/daytimes and my personal work schedule did not allow me to attend the 

last two virtual meetings. However, I have reviewed the provided meeting 

materials and PowerPoints from each meeting to try to keep up to date. 

Achievements of the External Organization 

ACR framework: Pan Canadian Framework for action to address abnormal call 

rates in breast cancer screening, was finalized and distributed in summer 2020. 

Priorities of the External Organization for next year 

• Following up on resumption of screening services post COVID 2020, and

the challenges that have come with that.

• Supporting the implementation of the ACR framework through a

screening resilience funding opportunity.

• Reviewing innovative practices to optimize breast screening programs.
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2020 EXTERNAL LIAISON ANNUAL REPORT 

External Organization Name: CANADIAN PARTNERSHIP FOR QUALITY

RADIOTHERAPY (CPQR) 

Purpose: The CPQR was established in 2010 as an alliance among the national 
professional associations involved in the delivery of radiation treatment: the 

Canadian Association of Radiation Oncology (CARO), the Canadian Organization 

of Medical Physicists (COMP) and the Canadian Association of Medical Radiation 

Technologists (CAMRT), with financial and strategic backing provided by the 

federal government through the Canadian Partnership Against Cancer (CPAC).  

The vision and mandate of the CPQR is to support and promote the universal 
availability of high quality and safe radiotherapy for all Canadians through 

initiatives aimed at improving quality and mitigating risk. 

Please visit http://www.cpqr.ca 

CAMRT Representative’s Name (end of term in parenthesis): 

Merrylee McGuffin, MRT(T) (Sept 1, 2021) 

Alison Giddings, MRT(T) (Sept 1, 2022) 

Issues and difficulties experienced by the Representative and their 

resolution 

None. 

Achievements of the External Organization 

Historically, the CPQR has worked to establish core-programs that today 

serve as quality benchmarks in: 

• programmatic quality

• technical quality

• radiation treatment incident reporting

• radiation treatment patient education and engagement

CPQR continues to support the deliverables set forth in its 2010, 2012 and 2017 

project plans, capitalizing on the momentum created in the core programs while 
continually striving to raise the bar on quality, safety and system performance 

initiatives in Canada. 

An early focus of CPQR was the development of nationally validated key quality 

indicators (KQIs) set out in Quality Assurance Guidelines for Canadian Radiation 
Treatment Programs (QRT). Working with radiation treatment programs across 

Canada to evaluate and measure against these indicators which are now, through 

our partnership with Accreditation Canada, embedded in national hospital 

accreditation.  In 2020, the CPQR released the latest version (V4) of this 

document with new KQIs on staffing levels required to ensure the safe planning 
and delivery of quality treatment, processes for the peer review of palliative 
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radiotherapy plans and new progressive indicator measures to help programs 

measure incremental improvements against the KQIs. Following this release, the 

bi-annual benchmarking survey was initiated. This benchmarking encourages a 

culture of continuous improvement triggered by observation of best practice. It 

helps create a culture of knowledge sharing and cooperation and provides the 

unique ability to gauge where centers stand in relation to each other.  
Furthermore, it helps the CPQR determine the value it brings to the Canadian 

radiation treatment community. Survey results in the form of a pan-Canadian 

report card are expected in the Spring of 2021. 

In 2010 CPQR and the Quality Assurance and Radiation Safety Advisory 
Committee (QARSAC) of COMP, developed a set of equipment and technology 

guidelines known as the TQC Suite. Together with the overarching Technical 

Quality Control Guidance for Canadian Radiation Treatment Programs, this TQC 

Suite helps provide direction to assure optimal performance of equipment and 

technologies involved in the planning and delivery of radiation treatment. In 
2020, to help further encourage use and uptake of documents, CPQR released a 

suite of self-audit tools for eight of the TQC guidelines to allow centers to assess 

their compliance at their leisure. Simultaneously, the TQC Suite was expanded 

with the addition of the MRI Guidelines document, an addition which was 

necessary to address the expanding role of MRI in radiation treatment planning 

and delivery. A guideline on PET-CT will be released in March 2021. 

A suite of documents focused on patient centered care was also expanded in 2020 

with the addition of two new guidance documents for radiation programs. In 

partnership with the CARO Quality and Standards Committee, the CPQR released 

Guidance on the use of Patient Reported Outcomes for Canadian Radiation 
Treatment Programs which provides recommendations on how to enhance and 

optimize the collection and use of PRO in routine clinical practice. The new Patient 

Education Guidance for Canadian Radiation Treatment Programs document 

provides guidance on activities radiation treatment programs can initiate to 

ensure patients and caregivers are actively engaged and informed about their 
disease, treatment options and prognosis throughout their care journey. Self-

audit tools were provided in conjunction with both documents to enable programs 

to measure their compliance with recommended practice. 

While this year has been a productive one for the CPQR, the impact of the COVID-
19 pandemic on radiation treatment programs throughout Canada cannot be 

ignored. To aid in understanding this impact, the CPQR developed and distributed 

a case report form and suggested data elements to help each Canadian program 

prospectively collect radiotherapy patterns of practice during the COVID-19 

pandemic. These forms were seen as a “minimal data set” to be expanded as 

necessary for each program’s individual preferences. Looking forward, there may 
be opportunity in the future to pool results for broader learning and population-

based analysis of the pandemic’s impact on radiation therapy treatment delivery. 

Priorities of the External Organization for next year 

The CPQR priorities and deliverables for the coming year include: 

• Launch of the new guidance document Implementation of Common
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Nomenclature in Canadian Radiation Treatment Programs (March 

2021). 

• Advocating for improved access to radiotherapy using provincial data to

help provinces understand where inequities lay and to support the
development of province-specific strategies that will improve access to

treatment for their patients.

• Continued work to update and promote existing programs with the goal

of expanding uptake in radiation treatment programs across Canada.

In 2019 CPAC communicated a change in their program funding model beyond 
2021 which will reflect new priorities identified through Canadian Strategy for 

Cancer Control refresh.  CPAC support for CPQR core operations will end March 

2021. It is acknowledged that the work CPQR has done has created value for 

the Canadian radiation treatment community, and effort will continue to be 

required to ensure ongoing relevance and uptake of its quality improvement 
initiatives. With input from key partners including CAMRT, the Steering 

Committee mapped out a strategic approach to ensure continuation of its core 

programs. As a founding partner, the CAMRT will continue to be engaged in 

this strategic mapping to ensure the work aligns with CAMRT strategic 

priorities, and that CAMRT members continue to see value and benefit from 

CPQR.  The culmination of these efforts will be announced in early 2021. 
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2020 EXTERNAL LIAISON ANNUAL REPORT 

External Organization Name: ORGANIZATIONS FOR HEALTH ACTION (HEAL) 

Purpose:  HEAL is a coalition of 40 national health organizations that represents 

a broad cross-section of health providers, health regions, institutions and 

facilities. HEAL represents more than 650,000 providers and consumers of health 

care. 

The members of the Organizations for Health Action are committed to sustaining 
and enhancing the health of Canadians, and in the continuous improvement of 

fair, equitable, efficient and effective health services and system(s). Through its 

history, HEAL has met with representatives of the federal government, presented 

Briefs to Standing Committees, and released a series of policy papers covering a 

range of health policy issues, including: the role of the federal government in 

funding health care; health human resources; entry-to-practice issues; and the 
Canada Health Act. 

CAMRT Representative’s Name:  

Irving Gold, Chief Executive Officer and Christopher Topham, Director of 

Advocacy & Communications. 

Issues and difficulties experienced by the Representative and their 

resolution 

No issues. 

Achievements 

HEAL worked quickly to update its The Canadian Way 2.0 document, titled 

“Beyond COVID-19: HEAL’s recommendations for a healthier nation”. Within it 
reinforced the recommendations from the Canadian Way 2.0 on mental health 

and care for elderly Canadians and added numerous recommendations to help 

healthcare professionals during the pandemic.  to include information and 

recommendations for healthcare during the coronavirus pandemic. HEAL is 

confident the document is being received and considered in Ottawa among 
politicians and decisionmakers.  

During the pandemic, HEAL maintained a standing bi-weekly meeting with the 

Office of the Federal Health Minister, wherein HEAL representatives were able to 

speak to the issues being faced by the member organizations. The Federal health 
Minister also used the meeting as a conduit for requests to healthcare practitioner 

groups. CAMRT was able to communicate many of its own issues in this way and 

contributed to a number of requests to help the health minister. For example, 

when the health minister asked for the view among healthcare practitioners on 

the need for rapid COVID testing at their sites, CAMRT was able to conduct a 

77

http://healthaction.ca/frontpage-articles/323-the-canadian-way-2-0-accelerating-innovation-and-improving-health-system-performance-with-focus-on-seniors-care-and-mental-health.html


survey of its members and submit this for consideration. 

HEAL was also active in the media in 2020, releasing a number of press releases, 
and holding press conferences. Of particular note was their effort in March 2020 

to bring federal government attention to widespread shortages of PPE in 

healthcare settings. 

The members of HEAL also continue to meet quarterly. These meetings have 
evolved over the past few years to include less HEAL business in favour of guest 

speakers that present on their files and are available to answer the questions of 

organizational representatives. This year we had several guest speakers at our 

meetings: 

• Carly Weeks, Globe and Mail Health reporter.

• Dr. Howard Njoo, Deputy Chief Public Health Officer, Public Health Agency
of Canada.

• David Coletto, Abacus Data.

• MP Ron MacKinnon, Chair of Standing Committee on Health (HESA).

• MP Darren Fisher, Parliamentary Secretary to Minister Hajdu.

• Senator Ravalia.
• Marie-Anik Gagné, Director, Mental Health Division Strategic Policy Branch,

Health Canada.

Priorities of the External Organization for next year 

• To continue to promote HEAL’s updated Canadian Way recommendations
to parliamentarians and other decision makers.

• To continue to build HEAL’s position as an essential partner for the federal

government on issues of health.
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2020 EXTERNAL LIAISON ANNUAL REPORT 

External Organization Name: INTERNATIONAL SOCIETY OF RADIOGRAPHERS AND

RADIOLOGICAL TECHNOLOGISTS (ISRRT) 

Purpose: To demonstrate CAMRT’s commitment to and involvement in the 

international radiological community affairs. 

The ISRRT: 

• encourages exchange of radiological information globally;

• assists countries to form their own professional societies;

• co-operates with and advises relevant international organizations including
the WHO, IAEA, ISR, IRPA, RSNA, IRQN, Pan American Health Organization

(PAHO);

• assists in the development of training curricula, ongoing education, quality

assurance programs and standards;

• awards educational and research scholarships;

• makes educational resources available to developing countries;
• organizes conferences and seminars;

• elevates the self-image of radiographers to be recognized as an essential

part of the health care team including the principal of justification to the

role of radiographers;

• works with the CEOs of member societies to enlist support on major ISRRT
projects;

• acts in an advisory capacity when requested; and

• supports the ‘Bonn’s Call-for-Action’ plan to promote the important role of

radiographers/radiological technologists in the safe and effective use of

radiation in medicine.

CAMRT Representative’s Name (end of term in parenthesis):  

Marcia Smoke, RT(T), ACT, MSc (2022) 

Issues and difficulties experienced by the Representative and their 

resolution 
• The CAMRT continues to provide tremendous financial support to the

ISRRT.

• The CAMRT promotes access both to and from the ISRRT through regular

e-blasts and the e-News for members.

Achievements of the External Organization 

COVID-19 Achievements: 
• The ISRRT is working closely with professional organizations and

authorities to distribute relevant ongoing developments regarding the

COVID-19 virus.

• Developed a new tab on the ISRRT website with all member societies

COVID-19 links available, so members can access information easily.
• ISRRT is taking every opportunity to represent the radiographers’ voice at

all the relevant WHO and IAEA committees engaged in fighting this virus.
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• Asked the WHO to collaborate and create a task working group with the

ISRRT to produce a best practice strategy for droplet precautions in the

form of a technical document specifically for the medical imaging
department relating to the COVID-19 virus and radiographers. The IAEA

will also be collaborating on the work being produced.

• Developed and produced best practice guidelines on the COVID-19

pandemic available on the E-learning center at www.isrrt.org/ e-learning.

The guidelines will help in the development of Safety Standards for the
profession.

• ISRRT developed the COVID-19 - ISRRT Response Document - Appropriate

and safe use of Medical Imaging and Radiation Therapy with infection

control measures considered in addition to standard radiation protection

procedures, in response to the requirement for a technical guidance

document which addresses the personal protective equipment (PPE)
necessary for radiography personnel working in Medical Imaging and

Radiation Therapy centres.

• Collaborated with WHO and developed a new document, called “Priority

medical devices list for the COVID-19 response and associated technical

specifications – Interim Guidance 19 November 2020”.  This document is
recommended to support decision-making regarding the selection,

incorporation, allocation and use of medical devices in the context of

COVID-19.

Other Achievements: 

• Produced the first official special edition in celebration of World
Radiography Day that successfully reached a global audience helping to

champion and promote the radiographer’s role in safety culture.

• The World Radiography Day theme was “Elevating Patient Care with

Artificial Intelligence: Radiographers are essential in elevating patient care

with Artificial Intelligence”.
• Continues to promote two Mission Statements: #1. ISRRT’s Position

Statement of the Radiographer/Radiological Technologist’s Role in Patient

Care and Patient Safety. #2. ISRRT’s Position Statement of the

Radiographer’s/Radiological Technologist’s Role in Communication and

Education of Patient, Health Care Team Professionals and the Public.

• A joint working group with ISRRT and the European Federation of
Radiographer Societies (EFRS) developed a draft consensus statement

published in May 2020 titled: Artificial Intelligence and the

Radiographer/Radiological Technologist Profession: A joint statement of the

International Society of Radiographers and Radiological Technologists and

the European Federation of Radiographer Societies.
• Work continues on the ISRRT Advocacy and Education Tobacco Free

Campaign for Radiography Schools Globally. The Tobacco Free project

Champaign detail and poster are available for download on the ISRRT

website www.isrrt.org/tobacco-freeprofession.

• Working on a call for Call-for-Action Campaign to address the 18 million
Health Care worker shortage that is facing our globe.

• Promotion of a Reformed Service Model for Radiography – Introduction of a

Four Tier Educated Radiographer Profession. 1. Assistant Radiographer:

performs protocol-limited clinical tasks usually under the direction and

supervision of a registered practitioner or could work unsupervised by

defining the scope of practice. 2. Radiographer: A practitioner
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autonomously performs a wide-ranging and complex clinical role; is 

accountable for his/her own actions and for the actions of those they 

supervise. 3. Advanced Radiographer: A practitioner, autonomous in 
clinical practice, defines the scope of practice of others and continuously 

develops clinical practice within a defined field. 4. Consultant 

Radiographer/Radiologist Assistant: A practitioner provides clinical 

leadership within a specialization, bringing strategic direction, innovation 

and influence through practice, research and education. 
• Developed ISRRT promotional material Representing One Global Voice for

both the new E-learning programs and the new ISRRT Facebook live

platform. Many courses are available for free on E-learning including:

Practical guidelines for radiographers/radiological technologists during the

pandemic; and International Covid-19 support for Radiographers and

Radiological Technologists. The programs are available at this website:
https://www.elearning.isrrt.org/?fbclid=IwAR2ull0zwJBvJVd4Id_27yCYsmrz

0v3onxh9kbObMVxQBSYKArygGv70gYc 

• Developed a new position statement Healthcare Employers responsibilities

in recognizing Radiographers/Radiological Technologists as Key Frontline

Healthcare Workers’  www.isrrt.org/radiographersrts-are-frontline-health-
careworkers. 

Priorities of the External Organization for next year 

• To host the 21st ISRRT World Congress in Dublin, Ireland, postponed to

August 17 - 21, 2021.

• The new member society ISRRT funding model will be implemented no

later than December 31, 2021.
• The ISRRT continues to work in seven priority areas: Collaboration and

Networking; One Global Voice; Representation on a Global Level; Global

Standard Development; Elevation of standards of Care for Patient;

Development of Safety Standards for Professionals; Education.
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CANADIAN ASSOCIATION OF MEDICAL RADIATION TECHNOLOGISTS 

Motions Presented to the Membership 

MOTION 

To ratify the election of Jennifer Brown, RTR, as Director for Alberta; Ada 

Bunko, MSc., RTT, CTRT, as Director for Saskatchewan; and Marie-Pier 

Chagnon, BSc., RTT, as Director for Quebec, to the CAMRT Board of 
Directors. 

All voting members of CAMRT are entitled to vote for all directors of the board, 

regardless of their province of residence.  Because only a single candidate was 

nominated from each province, the CAMRT did not run an online election in 2020. 
All the uncontested nominees were winners of the 2020 election by acclamation.   

Each member listed above will serve a three-year term on the Board, effective July 

1, 2021 to June 30, 2024. 

The CAMRT extends its sincere appreciation to those who took part in the 

nominating process. Their participation is essential for the effective governance of 

our association. 
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Commonly Employed CAMRT 
Acronyms & Abbreviations 

ACMDTT 

AC 

ACMR 

ACNM 

ACR 
ACT 

AIT 

ARDMS 

ARRT 

ASC 

ASMIRT 

ASRT 

ASTRO 

Alberta College of Medical Diagnostic and Therapeutic 

Technologists
Advanced Certification 

Advanced Certification in Magnetic Resonance 

Advanced Certification in Nuclear Medicine 

Advanced Certification in Radiological Technology 

Advanced Certification in Radiation Therapy 

Agreement on Internal Trade 

American Registry of Diagnostic Medical Sonographers 

American Registry of Radiologic Technologists 

Associated Sciences Consortium 

Australian Society of Medical Imaging and Radiation 

Therapy 

American Society of Radiologic Technologists 

American Society for Therapeutic Radiology and Oncology 

BoD Board of Directors 

CADTH Canadian Agency for Drugs & Technologies in Health 

CANM Canadian Association of Nuclear Medicine 

CAR Canadian Association of Radiologists 

CARDUP Canadian Association of Registered Diagnostic Ultrasound 
CARO Canadian Association of Radiation Oncologists 

CBI Certificate in Breast Imaging 

CBCSI Canadian Breast Cancer Screening Initiative 

CCA Committee on Conjoint Accreditation 

CCHSE Canadian College of Health Service Executives 
CCHSA Canadian Council of Health Services Accreditation 

CCPM Canadian College of Physicists in Medicine 

CDS Certificate in Dosimetry Specialty 

CEO Chief Executive Officer 

CFHSE Collaborating Forum on Health Services Education 

CHA Canadian Healthcare Association 
CIHI Canadian Institute for Health Information 

CIRA Canadian Interventional Radiology Association 

CMA Canadian Medical Association 

CMD Certified Medical Dosimetrist 

CMRTO College of Medical Radiation Technologists of Ontario 
CMS Certificate in Management Studies 

CNA Canadian Nurses Association 

CNNAR Canadian Network of National Associates of Regulators 

CNSC Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission 

CO CAMRT Office 
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COMP Canadian Organization of Medical Physicists 

CPAC Canadian Partnership Against Cancer 
CPD Continuing Professional Development 

CPSI Canadian Patient Safety Institute 

CRPA Canadian Radiation Protection Association 

CSAE Canadian Society of Association Executives 

CSMLS Canadian Society of Medical Laboratory Science 
CSRT Canadian Society of Respiratory Therapists 

CTIC Computed Tomography Imaging Certificate 

C2CC Campaign to Control Cancer 

DAP Diagnostic Accreditation Program (in B.C.) 

DoAC Director of Advocacy & Communications 
DoE Director of Education 

DoFA Director of Finance & Administration 

DoM Director of Membership 

DHSA Diploma in Health Services Administration 

DoPP Director of Professional Practice 
DSp Dosimetry Specialty (Certificate, Specialty Program) (Old, 

but used) 

EAC Education Advisory Council 

EP Education Programs 
EVC Exam Validation Committee 

FCAMRT Fellow of the CAMRT 

HARP Act Healing Arts Radiation Protection Act (Ontario) 

HC Health Canada 
HEAL Organizations for Health Action 

HPRAC Health Professions Regulatory Advisory Council (Ontario) 

HRSDC Human Resources & Skills Development Canada 

ICRP International Commission on Radiological Protection 
ISCD International Society of Clinical Dosimetry 

ISMRM International Society of Magnetic Resonance in Medicine 

ISRRT International Society of Radiographers and Radiological 

Technologists 

LDC Leadership Development Committee 

MAMRT Manitoba Association of Medical Radiation Technologists 

MOU Memorandum of Understanding 

MRA Mutual Recognition Agreement 
MRT(s) Medical Radiation Technologist(s) 

NBAMRT New Brunswick Association of Medical Radiation 

Technologists 
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NLAMRT Newfoundland & Labrador Association of Medical 

Radiation Technologists 

NSAMRT Nova Scotia Association of Medical Radiation 

Technologists 

OAMRS Ontario Association of Medical Radiation Sciences 
OARM Ontario Association of Radiology Managers 

OH Operational Handbook 

OTIMROEPMQ Ordre des technologies en imagerie médicale, en radio-

oncologie et en électrophysiologie médicale du Québec 

PAHO Pan American Health Organization 
PEIAMRT Prince Edward Island Association of Medical Radiation 

Technologists 

PO(s) Provincial Organization(s) 

PPAC Professional Practices Advisory Council 

PSS Provincial Student Secretaries 

RCEEM Recognized Continuing Education Evaluation Mechanism 

RSNA Radiological Society of North America 

R&P Rules and Procedures 

RT Registered Technologist (Radiological Technology & 
Radiation Therapy) 

RTMR Registered Technologist in Magnetic Resonance 

RTNM Registered Technologist in Nuclear Medicine 

RTR Registered Technologist in Radiological Technology 

RTT Registered Technologist in Radiation Therapy 

SAMRT Saskatchewan Association of Medical Radiation 

Technologists 

SC Sonography Canada 

SCOR Society and College of Radiographers (UK) 

SoR Society and College of Radiographers (UK) (alternative 
abbreviation) 

SIIM Society for Imaging Informatics in Medicine 

SMRT Society for MR Radiographers & Technologists 

SNMMI Society of Nuclear Medicine & Molecular Imaging 

ToR Terms of Reference 

WHO World Health Organization 

85



CAMRT AGM MOTION SHEET 

Mover:

Seconder: 

MOTION 

Please hand in to Recording Secretary. 

CAMRT AGM MOTION SHEET 

Mover: 

Seconder: 

MOTION 

Please hand in to Recording Secretary. 
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2020/2021 CAMRT Board of Directors 

Jennifer Carey, RTR, CTIC 

President 

Gailyne MacPherson, RTR, ACR 

Immediate Past President 

Kristy Owen, RTNM  
Director – British Columbia 

Susan Fawcett, RTT 

Director – Alberta 

Ada Bunko, RTT, CTRT 

Director – Saskatchewan 

Jenna MacLaine, CTIC, RTR 

Director – Manitoba  

Liz Lorusso, RTMR, RTR / Treasurer 

Director – Ontario 

Marie-Pier Chagnon, RTT / Vice President 

Director – Quebec 

Crystal Bevans, CTIC, RTNM  

Director-At-Large – New Brunswick 

Megan Brydon, RTNM  
Director – Nova Scotia 

Tanya Dickey, RTR, RTMR 

Director – Prince Edward Island 

Dorothy Bennett, RTR 

Director – Newfoundland & Labrador 
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